# Communications in Mathematical Physics



# $C^*$ -Categorical Prefactorization Algebras for Superselection Sectors and Topological Order

Marco Benini<sup>1,2</sup>, Victor Carmona<sup>3</sup>, Pieter Naaijkens<sup>4</sup>, Alexander Schenkel<sup>5</sup>

- Dipartimento di Matematica, Dipartimento di Eccellenza 2023-27, Università di Genova, Via Dodecaneso 35, 16146 Genoa, Italy. E-mail: marco.benini@unige.it
- <sup>2</sup> INFN, Sezione di Genova, Via Dodecaneso 33, 16146 Genoa, Italy
- Max Planck Institut für Mathematik in den Naturwissenschaften, İnselstraße 22, 04103 Leipzig, Germany. E-mail: victor.carmona@mis.mpg.de
- School of Mathematics, Cardiff University, Senghennydd Road, Cardiff CF24 4AG, UK. E-mail: NaaijkensP@cardiff.ac.uk
- School of Mathematical Sciences, University of Nottingham, University Park, Nottingham NG7 2RD, UK. E-mail: alexander.schenkel@nottingham.ac.uk

Received: 26 May 2025 / Accepted: 18 November 2025 © The Author(s) 2025

**Abstract:** This paper presents a conceptual and efficient geometric framework to encode the algebraic structures on the category of superselection sectors of an algebraic quantum field theory on the *n*-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . It is shown that, under the typical assumption of Haag duality, the monoidal  $C^*$ -categories of localized superselection sectors carry the structure of a locally constant prefactorization algebra over the category of cone-shaped subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . Employing techniques from higher algebra, one extracts from this datum an underlying locally constant prefactorization algebra defined on open disks in the cylinder  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . While the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  arises geometrically as the angular coordinates of cones, the origin of the line  $\mathbb{R}^1$  is analytic and rooted in Haag duality. The usual braided (for n = 2) or symmetric (for  $n \ge 3$ ) monoidal  $C^*$ -categories of superselection sectors are recovered by removing a point of the sphere  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times (\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \setminus \mathsf{pt}) \cong \mathbb{R}^n$  and using the equivalence between  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -algebras and locally constant prefactorization algebras defined on open disks in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The non-trivial homotopy groups of spheres induce additional algebraic structures on these  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal  $C^*$ -categories, which in the case of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  is given by a braided monoidal self-equivalence arising geometrically as a kind of 'holonomy' around the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$ . The locally constant prefactorization algebra structures discovered in this work generalize, under some mild geometric conditions, to other discrete spaces and thereby provide a clear link between the geometry of the localization regions and the algebraic structures on the category of superselection sectors.

# **Contents**

1.	Introduction and Summary
	Preliminaries
	2.1 <i>C</i> *-algebras
	2.2 Algebraic quantum field theories over sets
	2.3 C*-categorical prefactorization algebras
3.	Prefactorization Algebras of Localized Superselection Sectors
	3.1 Prefactorization algebra structure

Published online: 08 December 2025

	3.2 Object-wise monoidal structure	2
	3.3 Compatibility of the two structures	2
4.	Quantum Systems on the Lattice $\mathbb{Z}^n$	3
	4.1 An $\infty$ -categorical analysis of the algebraic structures	3
	4.2 Concrete computations for $\mathbb{Z}^2$	3

# 1. Introduction and Summary

Topologically ordered phases of matter are a modern and exciting research area in the intersection of condensed matter physics and mathematics [ZCZW19]. A key feature of such systems in two spatial dimensions is that their ground state admits anyonic excitations exhibiting braided statistics. From a condensed matter point of view, topologically ordered phases are interesting because they go beyond the Landau paradigm of symmetry breaking, and their classification is now a major area of the condensed matter theory, see e.g. [Wen17] for a review. Their topological features are robust against perturbations, making them a candidate for applications to fault-tolerant quantum computing, see e.g. [Kit03, N+08].

The mathematical description of topologically ordered phases can be approached from different angles, which can be classified roughly into 'microscopic', 'mesoscopic' and 'macroscopic'. In the 'microscopic' approach, one starts from suitable lattice quantum systems and studies topological excitations of their ground state. These are then shown to assemble into a braided monoidal category encoding the anyons together with their fusion and braiding, see e.g. [Kit03, Naa15] for an illustration in the context of Kitaev's quantum double model, or [KL20] for an operational approach. In the 'mesoscopic' approach, one takes physically-informed collective features of two-dimensional quantum gapped systems, such as their entanglement patterns, as input and derives from there the relevant algebraic structures encoding the fusion and braiding rules for anyons. This is, for instance, the approach adopted in [SKK20,SK21]. In the 'macroscopic' approach, one provides a direct axiomatization of the relevant types of categories encoding the extended operators in topological order, typically in terms of a structure richer than that of a braided monoidal category, such as a modular tensor category, see e.g. [JF22]. This bird's-eye view is very useful for addressing classification questions (in two and also higher dimensions), but it leaves open more concrete questions such as whether or not these categories can be realized by lattice quantum systems. For further information about topological order and its interplay with category theory, we point the reader to the informative review article [KZ22].

The focus of our article is on the 'microscopic' approach to topological order. We are mainly interested in formalizing a novel and conceptual framework to extract from a lattice quantum system the associated category of topological excitations of the ground state, together with its algebraic structures such as tensor products (fusion) and braidings. Our inspiration comes from works which employ techniques from algebraic quantum field theory (AQFT) to study lattice quantum systems and their representation theory, see in particular [Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22]. In a nutshell, the key features of this AQFT-based approach to topological order are as follows: The starting point is a family  $\{\mathfrak{A}(s)\}_{s\in S}$  of  $C^*$ -algebras indexed by the points of a discrete set S, which is interpreted as a discretization of the spatial dimensions. A typical choice is the ndimensional lattice  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ , but it is an interesting question to which extent the discrete geometry of S influences the main features of the model, see e.g. [EJ25] for existing results in this direction. This family of  $C^*$ -algebras is then extended to an AQFT  $\mathfrak A$ 

over S which assigns to each subset  $U \subseteq S$  a certain  $C^*$ -algebra obtained by forming tensor products and inductive limits. While the entire representation category \*Rep<sub>20</sub> of this extended AOFT is in general rather wild and unstructured, typically there exists an interesting full subcategory which can be endowed with the structure of a braided or symmetric monoidal  $C^*$ -category, under suitable additional hypotheses on both the geometry of S and the AQFT  $\mathfrak{A}$ . The key idea to extract this full subcategory of so-called superselection sectors [DHR71,BF82] is to fix a reference representation  $\pi_0 \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{I}}$ , interpreted as the ground state representation of the extended AQFT 21, and consider only those representations  $\pi \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  which are unitarily equivalent to  $\pi_0$  on the complement of a suitable class of subsets  $U \subseteq S$ , i.e.  $\pi|_{U^c} \cong \pi_0|_{U^c}$  for all  $U \in \mathbb{C}(S)$  belonging to some chosen category C(S) of localization regions. In the case of  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ , one typically takes  $C(S) = Cone(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  to be the category of cone-shaped subsets. Note that such superselection sectors encode only topological information of the system, which can be localized in any choice of localization region independently of its location or size, hence one can interpret them as describing topological excitations of the ground state. In the special case of  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$  with  $n \geq 2$ , one can construct directly a tensor product and braiding (which is symmetric for  $n \geq 3$ ) on the  $C^*$ -category of superselection sectors through a computationally intricate method which is rooted in [DHR71,BF82]. These methods were recently modernized and generalized in [B+25], where in particular rather general geometric conditions on the underlying category of localization regions were identified which allow for the construction of a braiding.

The main innovation of our paper is the new observation that the monoidal  $C^*$ -categories  $SSS_{(2l,\pi_0)}(U)$  of superselection sectors which are strictly localized in a region  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  carry the structure of a *locally constant prefactorization algebra* over the category  $\mathbf{C}(S)$  of localization regions, provided that certain rather mild geometric and algebraic assumptions are satisfied. (See Assumptions 3.11 and 3.13, and note that by Theorem 3.17 the latter follows from the more standard Haag duality property.) This means that, for every mutually disjoint family of inclusions of localization regions  $(U_1,\ldots,U_n)\to V$ , i.e.  $U_i\subseteq V$  for all i and  $U_i\cap U_j=\varnothing$  for all  $i\neq j$ , there exists a factorization product

$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(U_{i}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V)$$
(1.1)

that allows us to 'fuse' superselection sectors localized in disjoint regions. The term local constancy refers to the property that an equivalence of  $C^*$ -categories  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  is assigned to every 1-ary inclusion  $U \subseteq V$  of localization regions, which formalizes the intuition that superselection sectors are topological objects that are insensitive to the size and location of the localization region. This locally constant behavior of superselection sectors is implicitly recognized and also computationally utilized since the early works [DHR71,BF82], see also [B+25, Theorem 3.19] for a more explicit statement, however its full scope becomes manifest only in combination with the prefactorization algebra structure which we develop in the present paper. The algebraic structure described above can also be interpreted as a topological categorified AQFT, see Corollary 3.22 and Remark 3.23.

Prefactorization algebras are a very general and versatile class of algebraic structures. They were introduced by Costello and Gwilliam [CG17, CG21] in their works on perturbative QFT, but they are also of independent interest in factorization homology [AF15], higher algebra [LurHA], representation theory [BBJ18a, BBJ18b, Hat23] and algebraic

QFT [Hen18, BPSW21]. The key feature of a prefactorization algebra is that it describes a family of objects together with algebraic operations which are dictated intuitively by the underlying geometry of the problem. This geometry is abstractly encoded by a choice of category C, collecting the 'regions of interest' and their inclusions, together with a distinguished class of pairs of morphisms  $U_1 \to V \leftarrow U_2$  encoding when two regions  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  are 'geometrically independent' in V. One of the prime examples is given by the category  $\mathbf{Open}(X)$  of open subsets of a manifold X, together with the natural notion of geometric independence  $U_1 \to V \leftarrow U_2$  given by disjointness  $U_1 \cap U_2 = \emptyset$  of subsets. In the context of our paper, the geometry is encoded by the category of localization regions C(S) and geometric independence by disjointness of subsets.

The reader might now rightfully ask how our locally constant prefactorization algebra structures relate to the more familiar braided or symmetric monoidal structures arising in traditional superselection theory and topological order. The key insight is that locally constant prefactorization algebras over very simple types of geometries specialize to these familiar algebraic structures. For example, it is shown in [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9] that a locally constant prefactorization algebra which is defined over open disks in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ is equivalent to the datum of an algebra over the little *n*-disks operad  $\mathbb{E}_n$ . This implies that a category-valued locally constant prefactorization algebra over open disks in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ is equivalent to an  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal category, i.e. a monoidal category for n=1, a braided monoidal category for n = 2, and a symmetric monoidal category for  $n \ge 3$ . When translated to our context, this means that our locally constant prefactorization algebras of superselection sectors are a priori much more general objects and they only specialize to the familiar braided or symmetric monoidal categories if the category of localization regions C(S) is sufficiently simple. We will investigate these aspects in Sect. 4 for the typical example of the category  $C(S) = Cone(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  of cone-shaped subsets in  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  and show how to recover the familiar  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal categories in this case. In our analysis we discover also new algebraic structures on these categories, related to the homotopy groups of the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  encoding the angular coordinates of cones, which do not seem to have been observed before. In the particular case of a 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , these additional algebraic structures consist of a self-equivalence of the braided monoidal category of superselection sectors which admits a geometric interpretation in terms of a kind of 'holonomy' around the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$ .

We will now explain our results in more detail by outlining the content of this paper. In Sect. 2, we collect the relevant preliminary material which is needed for our work. Section 2.1 recalls some basic notions of  $C^*$ -algebras and their categorical aspects. Section 2.2 introduces a concept of AQFTs over discrete sets S, such as e.g. the lattice  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ , and develops categorical tools which allow us to extend any family  $\{\mathfrak{A}(s)\}_{s \in S}$ of  $C^*$ -algebras indexed by the points of S to an AQFT over S. These tools are rooted in the operadic approach to AQFT [BSW21,BSW19], which we combine with the  $C^*$ algebraic concepts from Sect. 2.1, see in particular the main result in Proposition 2.14. Section 2.3 recalls some basic aspects of the theory of  $C^*$ -categories following [Del12] and introduces a variant of prefactorization algebras taking values in  $C^*$ -categories, see in particular Definition 2.21 and Remark 2.22.

In Sect. 3, we study the  $C^*$ -category  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},C(S),\pi_0)} \subseteq *Rep_{\mathfrak{A}}$  of superselection sectors (see Definition 3.3) of an AQFT over a discrete set S and explore the algebraic structures which may be defined on this category. One of the key features entering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This degenerate behavior of  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal categories for  $n \geq 3$  is a consequence of our restriction to 1-categories. In the context of higher category theory,  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal  $\infty$ -categories are distinct concepts for all  $n \ge 0$ , where increasing n leads to more and more commutative objects.

our approach, which is implicitly known since [DHR71,BF82] and explicitly stated in [B+25, Facts 2.26, (SSS1)], is that there exists a family of unitarily equivalent models  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\mathbf{C}(S),\pi_0)}$  for this  $C^*$ -category, indexed by the objects  $U \in$  $\mathbb{C}(S)$  of the category of localization regions (e.g. cones for  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ ), that describes superselection sectors which are strictly localized in U. This family of  $C^*$ -categories assembles into a functor  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathbf{C}(S) \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which is locally constant in the sense that a unitary equivalence  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  of  $C^*$ -categories is assigned to every inclusion  $U \subseteq V$  in C(S), see Lemma 3.5. In Sect. 3.1, we show that this functor can be extended to a prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ over the category of localization regions  $\mathbb{C}(S)^{\perp}$  (endowed with the orthogonality relation ⊥ given by disjointness), provided that certain geometric and algebraic assumptions are satisfied, see Proposition 3.15. On the one hand, our geometric Assumption 3.11 is rather mild (see also Remark 3.12) and it is satisfied by the category of cone-shaped subsets of  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ , see Proposition 4.2. On the other hand, our algebraic Assumption 3.13 is designed to facilitate the construction of the factorization products. In particular, it holds if the AQFT satisfies Haag duality for all localization regions  $U \in \mathbb{C}(S)$ , see Theorem 3.17.

In Sects. 3.2 and 3.3, we review the usual monoidal structure on the  $C^*$ -category of superselection sectors from [DHR71,BF82] and prove that it is compatible with our prefactorization algebra structure. This compatibility implies that we obtain a locally constant prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(2l,\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{C(S)^\perp} \to Alg_{uAs}(C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}})$  taking values in the category of strict monoidal  $C^*$ -categories, see Theorem 3.21. In contrast to the geometric origin of our prefactorization algebra structure, this monoidal structure is of an analytic nature. It is rooted in the fact that, assuming Haag duality, every superselection sector  $\pi$  can be presented by a suitable endomorphism  $\rho$ , hence one can define a monoidal product by composition of endomorphisms. The existence of these two compatible types of algebraic structures, i.e. a geometric prefactorization algebra structure and an analytic object-wise monoidal structure, is the key insight to recover from our perspective the results from [Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22] about the braided monoidal structures on the categories of superselection sectors in 2-dimensional lattice quantum systems.

In Sect. 4, we specialize our results to the case where the set  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$  is the ndimensional lattice and the category of localization regions  $C(S) = Cone(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  is given by cone-shaped subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . In this context, our general results from Sect. 3 imply that, assuming Haag duality for all cone-shaped subsets, the categories of localized superselection sectors carry the structure of a locally constant prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{Cone(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}} \to Alg_{\mathsf{UAS}}(C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}})$  taking values in the category of strict monoidal  $C^*$ -categories, see Corollary 4.3. In Sect. 4.1, we use powerful techniques from higher algebra, in particular from ∞-categories and ∞-operads [LurHA], in order to relate these algebraic structures to more familiar ones. One of the key results is Corollary 4.8, which shows that  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  has an underlying locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  defined on open disks in the cylinder  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . We would like to emphasize that the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  arises from the geometry of our context (it describes the angular coordinates of cones centered at the origin of  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ ), while the line  $\mathbb{R}^1$  has an analytic origin rooted in Haag duality and the associated object-wise monoidal structure. By removing a point of the sphere  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times (\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \setminus \mathrm{pt}) \cong \mathbb{R}^n$ , we obtain an underlying locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\underline{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  defined on open disks in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , which is equivalent to an  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal structure on the  $C^*$ -category of superselection sectors, see Corollary 4.9. This provides a conceptual explanation for the origin of the braided (for n=2) or symmetric (for  $n\geq 3$ ) monoidal categories of superselection sectors in lattice quantum systems on  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22]. It is important to highlight that these  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal categories are obtained by removing a point of the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , hence they forget those algebraic structures carried by the locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^1\times\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  which are linked to the homotopy groups of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . In the special case of a 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , the additional algebraic structure arising from the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$  can be identified explicitly with a self-equivalence of the braided monoidal category of superselection sectors, see Corollary 4.12. This self-equivalence can be interpreted as a kind of 'holonomy' arising from rotating cones in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  by  $2\pi$  around their apex.

In Sect. 4.2, we spell out some more concrete computational details for the case of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . In particular, we show how one can compute the braided monoidal structure on the category of superselection sectors  $SSS_{(2|C(S),\pi_0)}$  explicitly from our locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\mathrm{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}:\mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\perp}} \to \mathrm{Alg}_{\mathsf{uAs}}(C^*\mathrm{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}})$  and observe that the result agrees with the traditional approach in [DHR71,BF82]. We further explain how to compute the self-equivalence of this braided monoidal category which is associated to the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$  and show that it is trivial (i.e. the identity) for Kitaev's quantum double model for an Abelian group, see Example 4.15. We believe that this triviality result is not due to the simplicity of this example, but it is rooted deeper in the type of superselection sectors which are commonly used for lattice quantum systems. These correspond to the traditional superselection sectors from [DHR71,BF82], which in other contexts are known to neglect information about the underlying 'spacetime' topology. In more detail, such traditional superselection sectors correspond in the terminology of Brunetti and Ruzzi to 'topologically trivial sectors' [BR08], which are a subclass of the more general superselection sectors introduced in their work building upon ideas of Roberts [Rob04] on non-Abelian cohomology. We believe that adapting these more general superselection sectors to lattice quantum systems will produce a richer  $C^*$ -category of superselection sectors that depends on the homotopy groups of the category of cone-shaped subsets  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  and thereby leads to a non-trivial self-equivalence in Corollary 4.12. We hope to come back to this in future work.

#### 2. Preliminaries

2.1.  $C^*$ -algebras. In this subsection we recall some basic facts about \*-algebras, pre- $C^*$ -algebras and  $C^*$ -algebras over the field  $\mathbb C$  of complex numbers, see e.g. [Mur90]. For our purposes, it will be most convenient to approach this subject from a categorical point of view following [Bun19,Bun21].

**Definition 2.1.** A \*-algebra is a unital associative algebra A over  $\mathbb{C}$  with a complex antilinear involution  $*: A \to A$ ,  $a \mapsto a^*$  that reverses the order of multiplication, i.e.

$$(\lambda a + \lambda' a')^* = \overline{\lambda} a^* + \overline{\lambda'} a'^*, \quad (a a')^* = a'^* a^*, \quad a^{**} = a,$$
 (2.1)

for all  $a, a' \in A$  and  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{C}$ . We denote by \*Alg<sub>C</sub> the category whose objects are all \*-algebras and whose morphisms are all \*-homomorphisms, i.e.  $f: A \to B$  is a morphism of unital associative algebras such that  $f(a^*) = f(a)^*$ , for all  $a \in A$ .

Let us recall that the traditional definition of a  $C^*$ -algebra is that of a Banach \*-algebra A whose norm  $\|\cdot\|_A:A\to [0,\infty)$  satisfies the  $C^*$ -identity  $\|a^*a\|_A=\|a\|_A^2$ , for all  $a\in A$ . The norm of a  $C^*$ -algebra turns out to be fixed uniquely by its other

structures, see e.g. [Mur90, Corollary 2.1.2], and every \*-homomorphism  $f: A \to B$  between two  $C^*$ -algebras is automatically continuous, see e.g. [Mur90, Theorem 2.1.7]. This justifies the following definition.

**Definition 2.2.** A  $C^*$ -algebra is \*-algebra  $A \in {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which has the property that it admits a  $C^*$ -norm turning it into a Banach \*-algebra. The category of  $C^*$ -algebras is defined as the full subcategory

$$C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subset {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \tag{2.2}$$

of the category of \*-algebras from Definition 2.1 whose objects are all  $C^*$ -algebras.

For every \*-algebra  $A \in {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , one can define a function  $\|\cdot\|_{\max} : A \to [0, \infty]$  by setting

$$||a||_{\max} := \sup_{f:A \to B} ||f(a)||_B,$$
 (2.3)

for all  $a \in A$ , where the supremum is taken over all \*-homomorphisms  $f : A \to B$  to a  $C^*$ -algebra  $B \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $C^*$ -norm denoted by  $\|\cdot\|_B$ .

**Definition 2.3.** A pre- $C^*$ -algebra is a \*-algebra  $A \in {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  such that  $||a||_{\max} < \infty$  is finite, for all  $a \in A$ . The category of pre- $C^*$ -algebras is defined as the full subcategory

$$C_{\text{pre}}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \tag{2.4}$$

of the category of \*-algebras from Definition 2.1 whose objects are all pre- $C^*$ -algebras.

Remark 2.4. For every  $C^*$ -algebra  $A \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  one can show that  $\|\cdot\|_{\max} = \|\cdot\|_A$  agrees with its  $C^*$ -norm. This implies that the full subcategories from Definitions 2.2 and 2.3 satisfy

$$C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq C^*_{\mathrm{pre}} \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}},$$
 (2.5)

see e.g. [Bun19, Example 2.11] or [Bun21, Lemma 7.7].

The following useful result has been shown in [Bun19, Section 3] and [Bun21, Section 7], which also provides explicit models for the adjoint functors displayed below.

**Proposition 2.5.** (a) There exists an adjunction

$$incl: C_{pre}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \stackrel{*}{\longleftarrow} {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} : Bd^{\infty}$$
 (2.6)

whose left adjoint incl is the full subcategory inclusion  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  from Definition 2.3. Hence, the category of pre- $C^*$ -algebras  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is a coreflective full subcategory of the category of \*-algebras \* $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

(b) There exists an adjunction

$$compl: C_{pre}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \xrightarrow{} C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}: incl$$
 (2.7)

whose right adjoint incl is the full subcategory inclusion  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  from Remark 2.4. Hence, the category of  $C^*$ -algebras  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is a reflective full subcategory of the category of pre- $C^*$ -algebras  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

Using that the category of \*-algebras \* $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is both complete and cocomplete (i.e. bicomplete) and a general categorical argument as in [Bun24, Proposition 4.5], it follows that the categories  $C^*_{\text{pre}}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are bicomplete too. One can say even more about how limits and colimits may be computed, see also [Bun19, Section 8] and [Bun21, Section 7].

**Corollary 2.6.** The categories  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are bicomplete. Furthermore:

(a) Colimits in  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are created by the inclusion functor incl:  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \to {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and the limit of a diagram  $X: \mathbf{D} \to C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  can be computed by

$$\lim \left( X : \mathbf{D} \to C_{pre}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \right) \cong Bd^{\infty} \left( \lim \left( X : \mathbf{D} \to {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \right) \right)$$
(2.8)

from the limit of this diagram in \*Alg<sub>C</sub>.

(b) Limits in  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are created by the inclusion functor incl :  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \to C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and the colimit of a diagram  $X : \mathbf{D} \to C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  can be computed by

$$colim(X : \mathbf{D} \to C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong compl(colim(X : \mathbf{D} \to C_{pre}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}))$$
 (2.9)

from the colimit of this diagram in  $C_{pre}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

Remark 2.7. Combining items (a) and (b) from Corollary 2.6, it follows that the colimit of a diagram  $X : \mathbf{D} \to C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  can be computed by

$$\operatorname{colim}(X: \mathbf{D} \to C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong \operatorname{compl}(\operatorname{colim}(X: \mathbf{D} \to {}^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}))$$
(2.10)

from the colimit of this diagram in \* $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

2.2. Algebraic quantum field theories over sets. In this subsection we describe a variant of algebraic quantum field theories (AQFTs) in the context where the underlying "space(time)" is given by a possibly infinite set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$ , such as e.g. the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . For this we use some aspects of the operadic approach to AQFT from [BSW21] and its generalization to the \*-involutive setting from [BSW19]. The aim of this subsection is to fix our notations and formalize through a universal property (see Proposition 2.14) a standard, but rather ad hoc, extension construction (see Remark 2.15) which is frequently used in the context of quantum spin systems. We believe that our perspective will be particularly valuable for categorically-minded readers to understand conceptually this extension construction, however we do not expect that it will lead to new practical or computational advantages for quantum spin systems.

**Definition 2.8.** Given any set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$ , we denote by  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)$  the category whose objects are all subsets  $U \subseteq S$  and whose morphisms are subset inclusions  $U \subseteq V$ . We say that two morphisms  $U_1 \subseteq V$  and  $U_2 \subseteq V$  are *orthogonal*, written as  $(U_1 \subseteq V) \perp (U_2 \subseteq V)$ , if  $U_1 \cap U_2 = \emptyset$  are disjoint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In our context, it is more accurate to think about the underlying space only. The time direction does not play a significant role, and is only used to inform the selection of a suitable reference representation. The AQFTs we consider could hence be thought of as living on a lattice over a Cauchy surface.

**Definition 2.9.** A \*-AQFT<sup>3</sup> over a set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$  is a functor  $\mathfrak{A} : \mathbf{Sub}(S) \to *\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  from the category of subsets of S (see Definition 2.8) to the category of \*-algebras (see Definition 2.1) which satisfies the following  $\bot$ -commutativity property: For all orthogonal pairs  $(U_1 \subseteq V) \perp (U_2 \subseteq V)$ , the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(U_1) \otimes \mathfrak{A}(U_2) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}(V) \otimes \mathfrak{A}(V)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\mu^{\text{op}}}$$

$$\mathfrak{A}(V) \otimes \mathfrak{A}(V) \xrightarrow{\mu} \mathfrak{A}(V)$$

$$(2.11)$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, where  $\mu^{\text{(op)}}$  denotes the (opposite) multiplication in the \*-algebra  $\mathfrak{A}(V) \in {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and the unlabeled arrows are induced by the \*-homomorphisms  $\mathfrak{A}(U_i) \to \mathfrak{A}(V)$  obtained by applying the functor  $\mathfrak{A}$  to the subset inclusions  $U_i \subseteq V$ , for i=1,2. The category of \*-AQFTs over S is defined as the full subcategory

$$*AQFT(S) \subseteq Fun(Sub(S), *Alg_{\mathbb{C}})$$
 (2.12)

of the functor category whose objects are all \*-AQFTs over S.

Remark 2.10. This definition of \*-AQFTs in terms of functors satisfying the  $\perp$ -commutativity property is similar to the traditional description of AQFTs in [HK64]. (In this relativistic context, the orthogonality relation  $\perp$  is given by causal disjointness of subsets of the Minkowski spacetime.) There also exists an equivalent, but more elegant and powerful, definition of (\*-)AQFTs in terms of (\*-)algebras over (\*-)operads, see [BSW21] and [BSW19]. Indeed, Definition 2.8 defines an orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp} := (\mathbf{Sub}(S), \perp)$  in the sense of [BSW21, Definition 3.4], hence there exists an associated AQFT (\*-)operad  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}}$ , see [BSW21, Definition 3.8] and [BSW19, Proposition 7.8]. The result in [BSW19, Proposition 7.11] then shows that the category from Definition 2.9 is equivalent

\*AQFT(S) 
$$\simeq$$
 \*Alg $_{\mathcal{O}_{Sub}(\mathbb{S})^{\perp}}$  (Vec $\mathbb{C}$ ) (2.13)

to the category of \*-algebras over the AQFT \*-operad with values in the involutive closed symmetric monoidal category  $\mathbf{Vec}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of complex vector spaces.

The operadic perspective from Remark 2.10 allows us to provide a conceptual formalization of a useful construction in the context of lattice quantum systems which extends a family of \*-algebras  $\{\mathfrak{A}(s)\}_{s\in S}$  indexed by the points of S to a \*-AQFT over S, see e.g. [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22] and also Remark 2.15 below. Regarding the set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$  as a discrete category, we denote by

$$j: S \longrightarrow \mathbf{Sub}(S), s \longmapsto j(s) := (\{s\} \subseteq S)$$
 (2.14)

the functor which assigns to an element  $s \in S$  the singleton subset  $j(s) = \{s\} \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ . Note that this functor is fully faithful and that restricting the orthogonality relation  $\bot$  on  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)$  from Definition 2.8 defines the trivial (i.e. empty) orthogonality relation on S. The result in [BSW21, Proposition 4.6], combined with its \*-involutive generalization in [BSW19, Corollary 7.13], then specializes in our context to the following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The terminology \*-AQFT is chosen as in [BSW19] to emphasize the presence of \*-involutive structures and thereby to distinguish this concept from the 'purely algebraic' AQFTs (taking values in an arbitrary symmetric monoidal category) appearing in other works of some of the authors, see e.g. [BSW21,Car23].

**Proposition 2.11.** The orthogonal functor (2.14) induces an adjunction

$$j_!: {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S \longrightarrow {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S): j^*$$
 (2.15)

which exhibits the product category \* $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S := \prod_{s \in S} *\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  as a coreflective full subcategory of the category of \*\*AQFTs from Definition 2.9, i.e. the left adjoint  $j_!$ , which is given by operadic left Kan extension, is a fully faithful functor. The right adjoint functor  $j^*$  is given concretely by assigning to each object  $\mathfrak{A} \in *\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  the family of \*\*-algebras  $j^*(\mathfrak{A}) = \{\mathfrak{A}(\{s\})\}_{s \in S} \in *\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$ .

We would like to emphasize that operadic constructions as in Proposition 2.11 exist a priori only for AQFTs assigning \*-algebras, but not necessarily for AQFTs assigning (pre-) $C^*$ -algebras. The reason for this is that (pre-) $C^*$ -algebras can not, to the best of our knowledge, be presented as categories of \*-algebras in a suitable cocomplete involutive closed symmetric monoidal category, which is however essential for the operadic approach in [BSW21,BSW19]. In the remaining part of this subsection we will study the interplay between the constructions presented above and the (pre-) $C^*$ -algebraic concepts from Sect. 2.1. For this we introduce the following terminology.

**Definition 2.12.** An object  $\mathfrak{A} \in {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  is called a *(pre-)C\*-AQFT* if, for each  $U \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ , the \*-algebra  $\mathfrak{A}(U) \in C^*_{(\mathrm{pre})}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is contained in the full subcategory of (pre-) $C^*$ -algebras from Definitions 2.2 and 2.3. We denote by

$$C^*AQFT(S) \subseteq C^*_{pre}AQFT(S) \subseteq ^*AQFT(S)$$
 (2.16)

the full subcategories of  $C^*$ -AQFTs and pre- $C^*$ -AQFTs over S.

**Lemma 2.13.** The adjunction compl:  $C_{pre}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}} \rightleftarrows C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ : incl from Proposition 2.5 (b) induces via post-composition an adjunction

$$compl: C_{pre}^* \mathbf{AQFT}(S) \longrightarrow C^* \mathbf{AQFT}(S) : incl$$
 (2.17)

between the categories of pre-C\*-AQFTs and C\*-AQFTs.

*Proof.* We have to show that, given any  $\mathfrak{A} \in C^*_{pre}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ , post-composing with the completion functor yields a functor compl( $\mathfrak{A}$ ):  $\mathbf{Sub}(S) \to C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which satisfies the  $\bot$ -commutativity property (2.11). Let us recall from e.g. [Bun21, Lemma 7.17] that, given any  $A \in C^*_{pre}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , its completion  $\mathrm{compl}(A) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  can be modeled by forming the quotient  $A/I_A \in {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  by the \*-ideal  $I_A := \{a \in A : \|a\|_{max} = 0\}$  and then completing the result with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{max}$ . Since all maps in the analog of the diagram (2.11) for the completions are continuous, it suffices to verify that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\mathfrak{A}(U_{1})/I_{\mathfrak{A}(U_{1})} \otimes \mathfrak{A}(U_{2})/I_{\mathfrak{A}(U_{2})} &\longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}(V)/I_{\mathfrak{A}(V)} \otimes \mathfrak{A}(V)/I_{\mathfrak{A}(V)} \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \mu^{\text{op}} \\
\mathfrak{A}(V)/I_{\mathfrak{A}(V)} \otimes \mathfrak{A}(V)/I_{\mathfrak{A}(V)} &\longrightarrow \mu & \mathfrak{A}(V)/I_{\mathfrak{A}(V)}
\end{array} (2.18)$$

of the uncompleted quotients commutes, for all  $(U_1 \subseteq V) \perp (U_2 \subseteq V)$ . This is a direct consequence of the  $\perp$ -commutativity property of  $\mathfrak{A} \in C^*_{\text{pre}}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ .

The resulting functor compl:  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{AQFT}(S) \to C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  is clearly left adjoint to the canonical inclusion functor.

The following result adapts Proposition 2.11 to the  $C^*$ -algebraic context.

**Proposition 2.14.** The adjunction from Proposition 2.11 together with the completion functor compl:  $C^*_{pre}\mathbf{AQFT}(S) \to C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  from Lemma 2.13 induce the adjunction

$$compl \circ j_! : C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S \longrightarrow C^* \mathbf{AQFT}(S) : j^*$$
 (2.19)

between the corresponding  $C^*$ -algebraic full subcategories. This adjunction exhibits the product category  $C^*\mathbf{Alg}^S_{\mathbb{C}} := \prod_{s \in S} C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  as a coreflective full subcategory of  $C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ , i.e. the left adjoint compl  $\circ$   $j_!$  is a fully faithful functor.

*Proof.* From the definition of the right adjoint functor  $j^*(\mathfrak{A}) = \{\mathfrak{A}(\{s\})\}_{s \in S}$ , it is evident that it restricts to the  $C^*$ -algebraic full subcategories. It thus remains to show that our candidate in (2.19) for a left adjoint is well-defined and that it is indeed a left adjoint for the restricted  $j^*$ .

To show well-definedness, let us start with observing that the orthogonal functor (2.14) factorizes

$$j: S \xrightarrow{j_1} \mathbf{Fin}(S) \xrightarrow{j_2} \mathbf{Sub}(S)$$
 (2.20)

through the full subcategory  $\mathbf{Fin}(S) \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(S)$  of all *finite* subsets of S, which we endow with the restriction of the orthogonality relation  $\bot$  on  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)$ . This implies that the operadic left Kan extension  $j_1$  can be computed in two steps

$$j_!: {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S \xrightarrow{j_{1!}} {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}^{fin}(S) \xrightarrow{j_{2!}} {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S) ,$$
 (2.21)

where \*AQFT<sup>fin</sup>(S) is defined similarly to Definition 2.9 by replacing the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}$  of all subsets with the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Fin}(S)^{\perp}$  of all finite subsets. The first operadic left Kan extension  $j_{1!}$  can be computed explicitly as follows: To a family of \*-algebras  $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathfrak{A}(s)\}_{s \in S} \in *\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^{S}$ , it assigns the object  $j_{1!}(\mathfrak{A}) \in *\mathbf{AQFT}^{\mathrm{fin}}(S)$  which is defined by the functor  $j_{1!}(\mathfrak{A}) : \mathbf{Fin}(S) \to *\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  that assigns to every finite subset  $U \subseteq S$  the (finite!) tensor product \*-algebra

$$j_{1!}(\mathfrak{A})(U) = \bigotimes_{s \in U} \mathfrak{A}(s) \in {}^{*}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$$
 (2.22a)

and to every inclusion  $U \subseteq V$  of finite subsets the canonical \*-homomorphism. Since  $j_2$  satisfies the closedness condition from [BSW21, Definition 5.3], the result in [BSW21, Theorem 5.4] shows that the second operadic left Kan extension  $j_2$ ! can be computed by an ordinary *categorical* left Kan extension of \* $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued functors. More concretely, this means that to an object  $\mathfrak{B} \in {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}^{\mathrm{fin}}(S)$  it assigns the object  $j_2$ !( $\mathfrak{B}$ )  $\in {}^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  which is defined by the functor  $j_2$ !( $\mathfrak{B}$ ):  $\mathbf{Sub}(S) \to {}^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  that assigns to every subset  $U \subseteq S$  the filtered colimit

$$j_{2!}(\mathfrak{B})(U) = \operatorname{colim}\left(\operatorname{Fin}(S)/U \longrightarrow \operatorname{Fin}(S) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{B}} {}^*\operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}\right)$$
 (2.22b)

and to every inclusion  $U \subseteq V$  of subsets the canonical \*-homomorphism.

Given any family  $\mathfrak{A} = {\mathfrak{A}(s)}_{s \in S} \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$  of  $C^*$ -algebras, the finite algebraic tensor products in (2.22a) are pre- $C^*$ -algebras, see e.g. [Bun21, Lemma 7.13]. Hence,

the functor  $j_{1!}$  restricts to a functor  $j_{1!}: C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S \to C^*_{\mathrm{pre}}\mathbf{AQFT}^{\mathrm{fin}}(S)$ . Using also (2.22b) and Corollary 2.6 (a), it follows that the functor  $j_{2!}$  restricts to a functor  $j_{2!}: C^*_{\mathrm{pre}}\mathbf{AQFT}^{\mathrm{fin}}(S) \to C^*_{\mathrm{pre}}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ . Hence, by (2.21) one obtains the restriction

$$j_!: C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S \longrightarrow C^*_{\mathrm{pre}}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$$
, (2.23)

which implies that our candidate for the left adjoint functor in (2.19) is well-defined. To show that (2.19) is an adjunction, we observe that, for any pair of objects  $\mathfrak{A} \in$  $C^*Alg^S_{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $\mathfrak{C} \in C^*AQFT(S)$ , there exist natural bijections

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{{}^{*}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)}\big(\operatorname{compl}\big(j_{!}(\mathfrak{A})\big),\mathfrak{C}\big) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{{}^{*}\mathbf{AQFT}(S)}\big(j_{!}(\mathfrak{A}),\mathfrak{C}\big) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{{}^{*}\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^{S}}\big(\mathfrak{A},j^{*}(\mathfrak{C})\big),$$
(2.24)

where in the first step we use Lemma 2.13 and in the second step we use Proposition 2.11. To show fully faithfulness of the left adjoint functor, one can equivalently verify that the adjunction unit is a natural isomorphism. This follows from the observation that, for each  $\mathfrak{A} \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$ , the unit  $\eta_{\mathfrak{A}} : \mathfrak{A} \to j^*\mathbf{compl}_{j!}(\mathfrak{A})$  is given component-wise by the identity maps

$$\mathfrak{A}(s) \longrightarrow \operatorname{compl}(j_!(\mathfrak{A})(\{s\})) = \operatorname{compl}(\mathfrak{A}(s)) = \mathfrak{A}(s),$$
 (2.25)

for all  $s \in S$ , where in the first equality we use (2.22) and in the second equality we use that  $\mathfrak{A}(s) \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is by hypothesis a  $C^*$ -algebra.

Remark 2.15. We would like to highlight that the left adjoint functor from Proposition 2.14 provides a formalization of the following standard extension construction in the context of lattice quantum systems, see e.g. [BR87, Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22]. Any family of matrix algebras  $\{\mathfrak{A}(s) \cong \operatorname{Mat}_d(\mathbb{C})\}_{s \in S} \in C^* \operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$ , indexed by the points of the set S, can be extended to all *finite* subsets  $U^{\text{fin}} \subseteq S$  by forming the tensor product  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}(U^{\mathrm{fin}}) := \bigotimes_{s \in U^{\mathrm{fin}}} \mathfrak{A}(s)$ . This can be extended further to all (possibly infinite) subsets  $U \subseteq S$  by taking the inductive limit  $\mathfrak{A}(U):=\operatorname{colim}_{U^{\text{fin}}\subset U}\mathfrak{A}(U^{\text{fin}})$  over all finite subsets  $U^{\text{fin}} \subseteq U$ . One easily checks by hand that this extension procedure defines a  $C^*$ -AQFT over S. From the proof of Proposition 2.14, it is evident that the result of this ad hoc construction coincides with the application of the left adjoint functor compl  $\circ j_1$ on  $\mathfrak{A} = {\mathfrak{A}(s)}_{s \in S} \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$ , hence our extension construction agrees with the usual one from the literature. Some of the advantages of our more abstract point of view are as follows: 1.) The extended compl $(i_1(\mathfrak{A})) \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  has, and it is characterized uniquely (up to isomorphism) by, the following useful universal property: For every  $\mathfrak{B} \in C^* \mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ , the set of  $C^* \mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ -morphisms  $\operatorname{compl}(j_!(\mathfrak{A})) \to \mathfrak{B}$  is in bijective correspondence to the set of families  $\{\mathfrak{A}(s) \to \mathfrak{B}(\{s\})\}_{s \in S}$  of  $C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ -morphisms. 2.) The concept of operadic left Kan extension provides a conceptual explanation for why one first extends from points to finite subsets via tensor products and then from finite subsets to all subsets via inductive limits.

2.3. C\*-categorical prefactorization algebras. In this subsection we recall some wellknown aspects of the theory of  $C^*$ -categories [GLR85], following mostly the presentation in [Del12]. See also [Bun19,Bun21,Bun24] for related results. We will then introduce a concept of prefactorization algebras which are defined over an orthogonal category  $C^{\perp} = (C, \perp)$ , for example the one from Definition 2.8 or full orthogonal subcategories thereof, and take values in  $C^*$ -categories.

**Definition 2.16.** A \*-category is a (unital)  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear category  $\mathcal{A}$  with an involutive complex antilinear contravariant endofunctor  $*: \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathcal{A}$  acting as the identity on objects. In more detail, an involution consists of a family of complex antilinear maps  $*: \mathcal{A}(x, y) \to \mathcal{A}(y, x)$ ,  $f \mapsto f^*$ , for all objects  $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$ , such that

$$(\lambda f + \lambda' f')^* = \overline{\lambda} f^* + \overline{\lambda'} f'^*, \quad (g f)^* = f^* g^*, \quad f^{**} = f,$$
 (2.26)

for all  $f, f' \in \mathcal{A}(x, y), g \in \mathcal{A}(y, z)$  and  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{C}$ . We denote by \*Cat<sub>\mathbb{C}</sub> the category whose objects are all small \*-categories and whose morphisms are all \*-functors, i.e. \mathbb{C}-linear functors  $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  such that  $F(f^*) = F(f)^*$ , for all morphisms f in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

Similarly to the case of  $C^*$ -algebras in Sect. 2.1, one can define a  $C^*$ -category as a \*-category which has additional properties.

**Definition 2.17.** A  $C^*$ -category is a \*-category  $\mathcal{A} \in {}^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which has the following properties:

- (i) There exists a family of norms  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A}(x, y) \to [0, \infty)$ , for all  $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$ , which satisfy the  $C^*$ -property  $\|f^*f\|_{\mathcal{A}} = \|f\|_{\mathcal{A}}^2$ , for all morphisms f in  $\mathcal{A}$ , and turn  $\mathcal{A}$  into a Banach \*-category. That is, each  $\mathcal{A}(x, y)$  is complete with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $\|g\|_{\mathcal{A}} < \|g\|_{\mathcal{A}} \|f\|_{\mathcal{A}}$  whenever the composition is defined.
- and ||g f||<sub>A</sub> ≤ ||g||<sub>A</sub> ||f||<sub>A</sub> whenever the composition is defined.
  (ii) For every morphism f ∈ A(x, y), the endomorphism f\* f ∈ A(x, x) is positive, i.e. its spectrum is contained in [0, ∞).

The category of  $C^*$ -categories is defined as the full subcategory

$$C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}} \subset {^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}} \tag{2.27}$$

of the category of \*-categories from Definition 2.16 whose objects are all  $C^*$ -categories.

A particularly important construction for  $C^*$ -categories that is used in our work is the *maximal tensor product* 

$$\boxtimes := \otimes_{\max} : C^* \mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}} \times C^* \mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow C^* \mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}, \qquad (2.28)$$

which we denote by the symbol  $\boxtimes$  in order to avoid subscripts. Let us recall its description from [Del12, Proposition 3.12]: Given two  $C^*$ -categories  $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , one forms first their algebraic tensor product  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \in {}^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , which is the \*-category whose objects are pairs of objects  $(x, p) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$  and whose morphisms are defined by the tensor product of vector spaces

$$(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})((x, p), (y, q)) := \mathcal{A}(x, y) \otimes \mathcal{B}(p, q), \qquad (2.29)$$

for all (x, p),  $(y, q) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ . The involution on  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$  is defined by the complex antilinear extension of  $(f \otimes g)^* := f^* \otimes g^* : (y, q) \to (x, p)$ , for all  $f \otimes g : (x, p) \to (y, q)$ . The maximal tensor product  $\mathcal{A} \boxtimes \mathcal{B} \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is then defined by completing the algebraic tensor product with respect to the maximal norm, which is defined in analogy to the case of  $(C)^*$ -algebras (2.3) by considering \*-functors to all  $C^*$ -categories. By construction, there exists a canonical \*-functor

$$\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A} \boxtimes \mathcal{B} \tag{2.30a}$$

which induces a natural bijection of Hom-sets

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{{}^{\ast}\operatorname{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}}(\mathcal{A}\boxtimes\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{{}^{\ast}\operatorname{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}}(\mathcal{A}\otimes\mathcal{B},\mathcal{C}), \qquad (2.30b)$$

for all  $C^*$ -categories  $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C} \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . This means that specifying a \*-functor  $\mathcal{A} \boxtimes$  $\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$  between  $C^*$ -categories is equivalent to specifying a \*-functor  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$  out of the algebraic tensor product, which is practically very convenient.

The following result follows from [Del12] and [Bun19, Corollary 11.4].

- **Theorem 2.18.** (a) The category  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$  from Definition 2.17 is closed symmetric monoidal with respect to the maximal tensor product  $\boxtimes := \otimes_{max}$  from (2.28) and the monoidal unit is given by the  $C^*$ -category  $\mathcal{BC} \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  with a single object and morphisms  $\mathbb{C}$ .
- (b) It is further a combinatorial simplicial symmetric monoidal model category with respect to the following classes of morphisms:  $A *-functor F : A \to B$  in  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$  is
  - A weak equivalence if it is a unitary equivalence, i.e. it is quasi-invertible such that every component of the natural isomorphisms  $F^{-1} F \cong id_A$  and  $F F^{-1} \cong id_B$ is unitary. (As a consequence of [Del12, Lemma 4.6], this is equivalent to the underlying functor between ordinary categories being fully faithful and essentially surjective.)
  - A cofibration if it is injective on objects.
  - A fibration if every unitary morphism  $v: F(x) \to p$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  admits a lift, i.e. there exists a unitary morphism  $u: x \to y$  in A such that F(u) = v.

Remark 2.19. The symmetric monoidal structure from Theorem 2.18 (a) allows us to define a 1-categorical concept of  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued prefactorization algebras, which will be sufficient for our constructions in Sect. 3. The symmetric monoidal model structure from Theorem 2.18 (b) determines a richer  $\infty$ -categorical context for such objects, which will be discussed in more detail in Sect. 4. In particular, this ∞-categorical context is needed to identify and characterize the algebraic structures on superselection sectors for lattice  $C^*$ -AQFTs in Sect. 4.

We would like to note that  $C^*$ -categories also assemble naturally into a symmetric monoidal 2-category, see e.g. [AV20, Hat23]. Using tools from 2-operad theory, see e.g. [CG13,BPSW21], it would be possible to formulate our results directly in this 2categorical context, which however would come with the following drawbacks: 1.) Our explicit constructions and results in Sect. 3 behave manifestly 1-categorical, hence a 2categorical framework would unnecessarily complicate their presentation. 2.) Our more abstract constructions and results in Sect. 4 apply to an arbitrary presentably symmetric monoidal ∞-category as target for operad algebras, hence a 2-categorical framework would unnecessarily restrict their range of applicability. In particular, this would limit potential future applications to more sophisticated lattice models which include stacky and/or derived geometric structures, whose representation categories take the form of higher categories or even dg-categories, see e.g. [BFS24,CC24].

We will now introduce a concept of  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued prefactorization algebras which are defined over any orthogonal category  $\mathbb{C}^{\perp}$ . For our applications in Sect. 3, the relevant examples are full orthogonal subcategories of the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}$ of subsets of a (possibly infinite) set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$  from Definition 2.8. The following definition of the prefactorization operad associated to an orthogonal category is taken from [BPSW21, Definition 2.5] and was motivated by the works of Costello and Gwilliam [CG17,CG21].

**Definition 2.20.** The prefactorization operad  $\mathcal{P}_{C^{\perp}}$  associated to an orthogonal category  $\mathbf{C}^{\perp}$  is the **Set**-valued colored symmetric operad defined by the following data:

(1) The objects of  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$  are the objects of the category  $\mathbf{C}$ .

(2) The sets of operations are

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}\left(\underline{\underline{V}}\right) := \left\{\underline{f} := (f_1, \dots, f_n) \in \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{C}(U_i, V) : f_i \perp f_j \text{ for all } i \neq j \right\}, \quad (2.31)$$

for each object  $V \in \mathbb{C}$  and each tuple of objects  $\underline{U} := (U_1, \dots, U_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . For the empty tuple  $\underline{U} = ()$ , we set  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{C}^{\perp}} \binom{V}{0} := \{ \operatorname{pt}_V \}$  to be a singleton.

(3) The composition maps

$$\gamma : \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(\underline{\underline{V}}) \times \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(\underline{\underline{W}_{i}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(\underline{\underline{\underline{V}}}),$$
 (2.32a)

where  $\underline{\underline{W}} := (\underline{W_1}, \dots, \underline{W_n})$  denotes the concatenation of tuples, are given by composition in the category  $\overline{C}$ , i.e.

$$\gamma(\underline{f}, (\underline{g_1}, \dots, \underline{g_n})) := \underline{f} \underline{\underline{g}} := (f_1 g_{11}, \dots, f_1 g_{1k_1}, \dots, f_n g_{n1}, \dots, f_n g_{nk_n}).$$
(2.32b)

- (4) The identity operations are  $\mathrm{id}_V \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}({}_V^V)$ .
- (5) The permutation actions  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(\sigma): \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(V_U) \to \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(V_U)$ , for  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ , are given by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}(\sigma)(f) := f \sigma := (f_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, f_{\sigma(n)}). \tag{2.33}$$

**Definition 2.21.** The category of  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebras over  $\mathbf{C}^{\perp}$  is defined as the category

$$C^*\mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}} := \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}} \left( C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}} \right)$$
 (2.34)

of algebras over the operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{C}^{\perp}}$  from Definition 2.20 with values in the closed symmetric monoidal category ( $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $\boxtimes$ ,  $\mathcal{B}\mathbb{C}$ ) of  $C^*$ -categories from Theorem 2.18 (a).

Remark 2.22. For the convenience of readers who are not familiar with operadic concepts, let us spell out explicitly the data and properties of a  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra  $\mathfrak{F}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}} \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ :

- (1) To any object  $U \in \mathbb{C}$  is assigned a  $C^*$ -category  $\mathfrak{F}(U) \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .
- (2) To any operation  $\underline{f}: \underline{U} = (U_1, \dots, U_n) \to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{C}^{\perp}}$  is assigned a \*-functor

$$\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f}): \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{F}(U_i) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}(V)$$
 (2.35)

from the maximal tensor product  $\boxtimes$  of  $C^*$ -categories. In the special case where  $\underline{U} = ()$  is the empty tuple (i.e. n = 0), this amounts to a \*-functor

$$\mathfrak{F}(\mathsf{pt}_V): \mathcal{B}\mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}(V)$$
 (2.36)

from the monoidal unit  $\mathcal{BC} \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

These data have to satisfy the following axioms:

(i) For all operations  $\underline{f}: \underline{U} = (U_1, \dots, U_n) \to V$  and  $\underline{g_i}: \underline{W_i} = (W_{i1}, \dots, W_{ik_i}) \to U_i$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$ , for  $i = \overline{1}, \dots, n$ , the diagram

$$\stackrel{n}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}} \stackrel{k_{i}}{\underset{j=1}{\boxtimes}} \mathfrak{F}(W_{ij}) \xrightarrow{\stackrel{\boxtimes_{i}\mathfrak{F}(\underline{g_{i}})}{\underset{i=1}{\longrightarrow}}} \stackrel{n}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}} \mathfrak{F}(U_{i})$$

$$\stackrel{\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f}\underline{g})}{\underset{\mathfrak{F}(V)}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}}} \stackrel{\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f})}{\underset{\mathfrak{F}(V)}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}}}$$

$$(2.37)$$

in  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$  commutes.

(ii) For all identity operations  $\mathrm{id}_V:V\to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^\perp}$ , the \*-functor

$$\mathfrak{F}(\mathrm{id}_V) = \mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{F}(V)} : \mathfrak{F}(V) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}(V)$$
 (2.38)

coincides with the identity \*-functor.

(iii) For all operations  $\underline{f}: \underline{U} = (U_1, \dots, U_n) \to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$  and permutations  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ , the diagram

$$\overset{n}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}} \mathfrak{F}(U_i) \xrightarrow{\cong} \overset{\cong}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}} \mathfrak{F}(U_{\sigma(i)})$$

$$\overset{n}{\underset{i=1}{\boxtimes}} \mathfrak{F}(U_{\sigma(i)})$$

$$\overset{\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f})}{\underset{\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f})}{\underset{\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f})}{\boxtimes}}}$$
(2.39)

in  $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  commutes, where the unlabeled isomorphism is obtained from the symmetric braiding on  $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

As a consequence of the universal property (2.30) of the maximal tensor product, we note that the structure maps (2.35) can be specified equivalently by \*-functors

$$\mathfrak{F}(\underline{f}): \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{F}(U_i) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}(V)$$
 (2.40)

out of the algebraic tensor product and (2.36) is equivalent to the choice of an object

$$\mathfrak{F}(\mathsf{pt}_V) \in \mathfrak{F}(V) \,. \tag{2.41}$$

Furthermore, commutativity of the diagrams (2.37) and (2.39) can be verified by restricting to algebraic tensor products. These observations are useful in practice.

### 3. Prefactorization Algebras of Localized Superselection Sectors

Consider any set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$  and any family  $\mathfrak{A} = {\mathfrak{A}(s)}_{s \in S} \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$  of  $C^*$ -algebras. Then the construction in Proposition 2.14 defines a  $C^*$ -AQFT

$$\overline{\mathfrak{A}} := \operatorname{compl}(j_!(\mathfrak{A})) \in C^* \operatorname{\mathbf{AQFT}}(S)$$
(3.1)

on the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}$  of all subsets of S from Definition 2.8. This means that we can assign functorially to each subset  $U \subseteq S$  a  $C^*$ -algebra  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , which is constructed explicitly in the proof of Proposition 2.14 in terms of tensor products, filtered colimits and  $C^*$ -completions, and to each subset inclusion

 $U \subseteq V$  a \*-homomorphism  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(V)$ . This functor satisfies by construction the  $\bot$ -commutativity property (2.11). It assigns to the empty subset  $\varnothing \subseteq S$  the initial object  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(\varnothing) = \mathbb{C} \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}$  and to each singleton  $\{s\} \subseteq S$  the input datum  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(\{s\}) = \mathfrak{A}(s) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of the construction. In applications to quantum spin systems [Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22], one usually considers a lattice  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$  and a family of finite-dimensional matrix algebras  $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathfrak{A}(s) \cong \mathbf{Mat}_d(\mathbb{C})\}_{s \in S} \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$ .

The aim of this section is to construct  $C^*$ -categories of suitably localized superselection sectors for such  $C^*$ -AQFTs over S and to explore the algebraic structures which can be defined, under suitable additional assumptions, on these  $C^*$ -categories. We propose the following simple definition of \*-representations of the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*$ -AQFT(S) in (3.1) and argue in Remark 3.2 below that this is equivalent to the more standard definition in the literature.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{A} = {\mathfrak{A}(s)}_{s \in S} \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$  be any family of  $C^*$ -algebras which is indexed by a set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$ . The  $C^*$ -category  ${}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  of \*-representations of the corresponding extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) is defined as follows:

Obj: An object in \* $\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  is a pair  $(H, \pi)$  consisting of a complex Hilbert space H and a family  $\pi = \{\pi_s : \mathfrak{A}(s) \to B(H)\}_{s \in S}$  of mutually commuting \*-homomorphisms to the  $C^*$ -algebra  $B(H) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of bounded operators on H, i.e. the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(s) \otimes \mathfrak{A}(s') \xrightarrow{\pi_s \otimes \pi_{s'}} B(H) \otimes B(H)$$

$$\pi_s \otimes \pi_{s'} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\circ} \circ p$$

$$B(H) \otimes B(H) \xrightarrow{\circ} B(H)$$

$$(3.2)$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, for all  $s, s' \in S$  with  $s \neq s'$ , where  $\circ^{(op)}$  denotes the (opposite) composition of bounded operators.

Mor: Given two objects  $(H, \pi)$  and  $(H', \pi')$ , the Banach space of morphisms is the closed subspace

\*
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}((H,\pi),(H',\pi')) \subseteq B(H,H')$$
 (3.3)

of the Banach space of bounded operators from H to H' which consists of all bounded operators  $L: H \to H'$  such that the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(s) \xrightarrow{\pi'_s} B(H')$$

$$\pi_s \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{(-)\circ L}$$

$$B(H) \xrightarrow{L_{\circ(-)}} B(H, H')$$

$$(3.4)$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, for all  $s \in S$ .

The identity morphisms are given by  $\mathrm{id}_H: (H,\pi) \to (H,\pi)$  and the composition of two morphisms  $L: (H,\pi) \to (H',\pi')$  and  $L': (H',\pi') \to (H'',\pi'')$  is the composition  $L' \circ L: (H,\pi) \to (H'',\pi'')$  of bounded operators. The \*-involution is defined by forming adjoints  $L^*: (H',\pi') \to (H,\pi)$  of bounded operators  $L: (H,\pi) \to (H',\pi')$ .

Remark 3.2. The usual definition of \*-representations of the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) consists of \*-homomorphisms  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(S) \to B(H)$  from the global  $C^*$ -algebra  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(S) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which is assigned to the entire set  $S \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ . We would like to

note that this definition is equivalent to our Definition 3.1: As a consequence of the adjunction in Proposition 2.5 (b), a \*-homomorphism  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(S) = \text{compl}(j_1(\mathfrak{A})(S)) \rightarrow$ B(H) is equivalent to the datum of a \*-homomorphism  $\pi: j_1(\mathfrak{A})(S) \to B(H)$ . From our construction of  $j_1(\mathfrak{A})(S)$  in the proof of Proposition 2.14, in terms of a colimit over the slice category Fin(S)/S, it follows that this datum is equivalent to a family

$$\left\{ \pi_U : \mathfrak{A}(U) := \bigotimes_{s \in U} \mathfrak{A}(s) \longrightarrow B(H) \right\}_{U \in \mathbf{Fin}(S)}$$
(3.5)

of \*-homomorphisms, indexed by all finite subsets  $U \subseteq S$ , such that the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(U) \xrightarrow{\pi_U} \mathfrak{A}(V) \tag{3.6}$$

in \*Alg<sub>C</sub> commutes, for all inclusions  $U \subseteq V$  of finite subsets. Since  $\mathfrak{A}(U) = \bigotimes_{s \in U} \mathfrak{A}(s)$ is a tensor product \*-algebra, for all  $U \in \mathbf{Fin}(S)$ , such datum is equivalent to an Sindexed family  $\{\pi_s : \mathfrak{A}(s) \to B(H)\}_{s \in S}$  of mutually commuting \*-homomorphisms as in Definition 3.1.

By a similar argument as above, it follows that every object  $(H, \pi) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  in the category from Definition 3.1 comes with a canonical \*-homomorphism

$$\pi_U: \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \longrightarrow B(H)$$
 (3.7)

from the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which is assigned by the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ to any (possibly infinite) subset  $U \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ . This family of \*-homomorphisms satisfies commutative triangles as in (3.6), for all subset inclusion  $U \subseteq V$ , and it is related to the input datum via  $\pi_{\{s\}} = \pi_s$ , for all elements  $s \in S$ .

The  $C^*$ -category of all \*-representations \***Rep**<sub>21</sub> is typically too large and unstructured, which has led Doplicher, Haag and Roberts [DHR71] and later also Buchholz and Fredenhagen [BF82] to consider only specific classes of \*-representations which are called superselection sectors. These \*-representations are defined relative to a fixed faithful \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  (the "vacuum representation") and are required to be localizable in a suitable class of subsets  $U \subseteq S$ , i.e. they are unitarily equivalent to the vacuum representation in all complements  $U^c := S \setminus U$ . In our context, it is convenient to describe such localization regions by means of a full subcategory  $\mathbf{C}(S) \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(S)$  of the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}$  from Definition 2.8, which inherits the structure of an orthogonal full subcategory  $\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp} \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(S)^{\perp}$  by restricting the orthogonality relation.

**Definition 3.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{A} = {\mathfrak{A}(s)}_{s \in S} \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^S$  be any family of  $C^*$ -algebras which is indexed by a set  $S \in \mathbf{Set}$ . Fix any object  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  such that the \*homomorphism  $\pi_{0U}: \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to B(H)$  is injective, for all  $U \subseteq S$ , and any full subcategory  $C(S) \subseteq Sub(S)$ . The  $C^*$ -category of  $(C(S), \pi_0)$ -localizable superselection sectors of the corresponding extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) is defined as the full C\*-subcategory

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)} \subseteq {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$$
 (3.8a)

consisting of all objects  $(K, \pi) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  which satisfy the following localizability conditions: For every  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , there exists a unitary operator  $u: K \to H$  such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{A}(s) & \xrightarrow{\pi_{0s}} & B(H) \\ \pi_s \downarrow & & \downarrow^{(-)\circ u} \\ B(K) & \xrightarrow{u\circ(-)} & B(K,H) \end{array} \tag{3.8b}$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, for all  $s \in U^c := S \setminus U$  in the complement of  $U \subseteq S$ .

Remark 3.4. To show that a \*-representation  $(K, \pi) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  lies in the full  $C^*$ -subcategory  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)} \subseteq {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ , it suffices to verify the localizability conditions (3.8) only for sufficiently small subsets  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . More precisely, given any morphism  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbf{C}(S)$ , localizability of  $(K, \pi) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  in the smaller subset  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  implies localizability in the larger subset  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Indeed, if there exists a unitary operator  $u : K \to H$  such that  $u \circ \pi_s(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ , then this property holds true in particular for all  $s \in V^c \subseteq U^c$ . This simple observation will become useful below.

In our constructions below, it is convenient to work with the following family of unitarily equivalent models for the  $C^*$ -category  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$  of  $(\mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)$ -localizable superselection sectors from Definition 3.3.

**Lemma 3.5.** For each  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , we denote by

$$SSS_{(2L,\pi_0)}(U) \subseteq SSS_{(2L,C(S),\pi_0)} \tag{3.9a}$$

the full  $C^*$ -subcategory consisting of all objects  $(H, \pi) \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$  which share the same Hilbert space with the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  and satisfy the strict localization condition

$$\pi_s = \pi_{0s} : \mathfrak{A}(s) \longrightarrow B(H),$$
 (3.9b)

for all  $s \in U^c$ . Then the full  $C^*$ -subcategory inclusion (3.9) is a unitary equivalence of  $C^*$ -categories, for every  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ .

*Proof.* By Definition 3.3, given any  $(K, \pi) \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$ , there exists a unitary operator  $u: K \to H$  such that  $u \circ \pi_s(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ . Then the family of \*-homomorphisms

$$\pi^{u} := \left\{ u \circ \pi_{s}(-) \circ u^{*} : \mathfrak{A}(s) \longrightarrow B(H) \right\}_{s \in S}$$
 (3.10)

defines an object  $(H, \pi^u) \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$  which satisfies by construction the strict localization condition  $\pi^u_s = \pi_{0s}$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ . In other words,  $(H, \pi^u)$  is contained in the full  $C^*$ -subcategory  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \pi_0)}(U) \subseteq \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$ . The unitary  $u : K \to U$  defines a unitary isomorphism  $u : (K, \pi) \to (H, \pi^u)$  in  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$ , which implies that the full  $C^*$ -subcategory inclusion  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \pi_0)}(U) \subseteq \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$  is a unitary equivalence of  $C^*$ -categories.

Remark 3.6. We would like to note that similar  $C^*$ -categories of superselection sectors which are also strictly localized in some fixed region appeared before in the literature. See for example [Oga22, Setting 5.1] for the context of 2-dimensional lattice quantum systems and [B+25, Definition 2.25] for a general von Neumann algebraic setting for AOFTs over posets.

Remark 3.7. Since all objects  $(H, \pi) \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A}, \pi_0)}(U)$  in the  $C^*$ -category from (3.9) share the same Hilbert space H, fixed by the choice of reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ , we will drop the Hilbert space from our notations and simply write  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$  for an object and  $L: \pi \to \pi'$  for a morphism in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$ .

Remark 3.8. From Definition 3.3, it follows that, given any  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \subseteq$  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbf{C}(S), \pi_0)}$  which is localized strictly in  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  and any other localization region  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , there exists a unitary operator  $u: H \to H$  such that  $u \circ \pi_s(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u$ , for all  $s \in V^c$ . This means that  $\pi^u \in SSS_{(2L,\pi_0)}(V) \subseteq SSS_{(2L,C(S),\pi_0)}$  defined in (3.10) is localized strictly in  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . We further have a unitary isomorphism

$$u: \pi \longrightarrow \pi^u$$
 (3.11)

in  $SSS_{(2L,C(S),\pi_0)}$ , which in the literature is often called a charge transporter.

A direct consequence of the definition in (3.9) is that we have inclusions of full  $C^*$ -subcategories

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \subseteq SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V) \subseteq SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\mathbf{C}(S),\pi_0)}, \qquad (3.12)$$

for all morphisms  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbb{C}(S)$ . Note that these inclusions are unitary equivalences by Lemma 3.5 and the 2-out-of-3 property of unitary equivalences. This implies the following result.

**Proposition 3.9.** The  $C^*$ -categories from (3.9) assemble into a functor

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathbf{C}(S) \longrightarrow C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$$
 (3.13)

which assigns to each morphism  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbb{C}(S)$  the full  $C^*$ -subcategory inclusion in (3.12). This functor is locally constant in the sense that it assigns to every morphism  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbb{C}(S)$  a unitary equivalence of  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -categories.

Remark 3.10. Another direct consequence of the definition in (3.9) is that there exists, for each  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , a distinguished object

$$\pi_0 \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \tag{3.14}$$

given by the reference \*-representation. Note that these objects are compatible with the functor structure from Proposition 3.9, hence one can also think of this functor as a functor to the category of pointed (i.e.  $\mathbb{E}_0$ -monoidal)  $C^*$ -categories.

3.1. Prefactorization algebra structure. Note that the functor  $\mathbf{SS}_{(21,\pi_0)}: \mathbf{C}(S) \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  from Proposition 3.9 and the distinguished objects (3.14) describe the arity 0 and 1 data of a  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra over  $\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}$ , see in particular Remark 2.22. In order to obtain the entire data of a  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra, one has to define also actions of the  $(n \geq 2)$ -ary operations  $\underline{U} = (U_1, \ldots, U_n) \to V$  in the operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$ , i.e.  $U_i \subseteq V$  for all i and  $U_i \cap U_j = \varnothing$  for all  $i \neq j$ . The goal of this section is to show that such an extension of the functor to a prefactorization algebra exists, provided that certain geometric and algebraic assumptions are satisfied. Let us start with introducing suitable geometric assumptions on the full subcategory  $\mathbf{C}(S) \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(S)$  encoding the localization regions of superselection sectors in Definition 3.3 which ensure the existence of our constructions in this subsection and also in Sect. 3.2 below. We show in Sect. 4 that these assumptions are satisfied in the case of cone-shaped subsets in the lattice  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$ .

**Assumption 3.11.** We assume that the full subcategory  $C(S) \subseteq Sub(S)$  satisfies the following properties:

- (1) Given any  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , there exists an object  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $V \subseteq U^c$ .
- (2) Given any  $U, V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , there exist objects  $V', W \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $V' \subseteq V$  and  $U \cup V' \subseteq W$ .
- (3) Given any  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  and any finite tuple  $(U_1, \ldots, U_n) \in \mathbf{C}(S)^n$  of mutually disjoint subsets, i.e.  $U_i \cap U_j = \emptyset$  for all  $i \neq j$ , there exists an object  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $V \subseteq U$  and  $V \cap U_i \neq \emptyset$  for at most one index  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

Remark 3.12. We would like to emphasize that our geometric Assumption 3.11 is designed such that the strictly localized superselection sectors admit the structure of a prefactorization algebra over  $C(S)^{\perp}$  taking values in monoidal  $C^*$ -categories, see in particular Theorem 3.21 below. Since such prefactorization algebras are more general algebraic objects than braided monoidal categories, it is not surprising that our geometric assumptions are weaker than the geometric conditions (GA0–GA3) in [B+25, Section 1.1]. The latter are designed to achieve a more specialized result, namely that strictly localized superselection sectors form a *braided* monoidal  $C^*$ -category. We return to this point in Sect. 4.

The following algebraic assumptions control the local behavior of strictly localized superselection sectors in the sense of (3.9). We show in Theorem 3.17 below that these assumptions hold true in particular in the case where the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . The reason why we prefer presenting Assumption 3.13 in the form below, instead of assuming directly the more standard Haag duality property, is that it is designed to provide a streamlined proof for the key Lemma 3.14.

**Assumption 3.13.** We assume that the following properties hold, for all pairs  $U_1, U_2 \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  of disjoint subsets, i.e.  $U_1 \cap U_2 = \emptyset$ :

(1) For any pair of objects  $\pi_1 \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_1)$  and  $\pi_2 \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_2)$ , the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(s_1) \otimes \mathfrak{A}(s_2) \xrightarrow{\pi_{1s_1} \otimes \pi_{2s_2}} B(H) \otimes B(H) 
\pi_{1s_1} \otimes \pi_{2s_2} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\sigma^{\text{op}}} 
B(H) \otimes B(H) \xrightarrow{\circ} B(H)$$
(3.15)

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, for all  $s_1 \in U_1$  and  $s_2 \in U_2$ .

(2) For any pair of morphisms  $L_1: \pi_1 \to \pi_1'$  in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_1)$  and  $L_2: \pi_2 \to \pi_2'$  in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_2)$ , we have that

$$L_1 \circ L_2 = L_2 \circ L_1 \tag{3.16a}$$

and the diagrams

$$\mathfrak{A}(s_1) \xrightarrow{\pi_{1s_1}} B(H) \qquad \mathfrak{A}(s_2) \xrightarrow{\pi_{2s_2}} B(H) 
\pi_{1s_1} \downarrow \qquad \downarrow_{(-)\circ L_2} \qquad \pi_{2s_2} \downarrow \qquad \downarrow_{(-)\circ L_1} \qquad (3.16b) 
B(H) \xrightarrow{L_2\circ(-)} B(H) \qquad B(H) \xrightarrow{L_1\circ(-)} B(H)$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commute, for all  $s_1 \in U_1$  and  $s_2 \in U_2$ .

(3) For any pair of objects  $\pi_1 \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_1)$  and  $\pi_2 \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_2)$  and any  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $V \cap U_1 = \emptyset$  are disjoint (but V and  $U_2$  not necessarily disjoint), the unitary isomorphism  $u_2 : \pi_2 \to \pi_2^{u_2}$  from (3.11) to some  $\pi_2^{u_2} \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  strictly localized in V can be chosen such that the diagram

$$\mathfrak{A}(s_1) \xrightarrow{\pi_{1s_1}} B(H) 
\begin{array}{c} \pi_{1s_1} \downarrow & \downarrow_{(-)\circ u_2} \\ B(H) \xrightarrow{u_2\circ(-)} B(H) \end{array} (3.17)$$

of linear maps between vector spaces commutes, for all  $s_1 \in U_1 \cap V^c = U_1$ .

**Lemma 3.14.** Suppose that Assumptions 3.11 (3) and 3.13 are satisfied. For any n-ary operation  $(U_1, \ldots, U_n) \to V$  in the prefactorization operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  from Definition 2.20, i.e.  $U_i \subseteq V$  for all i and  $U_i \cap U_j = \emptyset$  for all  $i \neq j$ , consider the assignment from the algebraic tensor product

$$\bullet: \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(U_{i}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V), \qquad (3.18a)$$

$$(\pi_{1},\ldots,\pi_{n}) \longmapsto \pi_{1} \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_{n},$$

$$L_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes L_{n} \longmapsto L_{1} \bullet \cdots \bullet L_{n}$$

given by

$$(\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n)_s := \begin{cases} \pi_{is} & \text{if } s \in U_i \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n, \\ \pi_{0s} & \text{if } s \in U_1^c \cap \cdots \cap U_n^c, \end{cases}$$
(3.18b)

for all  $s \in S$ , and by the composition of bounded operators

$$L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n := L_1 \circ \cdots \circ L_n \in B(H)$$
. (3.18c)

Then (3.18) is a well-defined \*-functor.

*Proof.* Note that mutual disjointness  $U_i \cap U_j = \emptyset$ , for all  $i \neq j$ , implies that the case distinction in (3.18b) is valid. Assumption 3.13 (1) implies that the family of \*-homomorphisms (3.18b) is mutually commuting and it is obvious from the definition that  $(\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n)_s = \pi_{0s}$ , for all  $s \in V^c$ , because  $U_i \subseteq V$  for all i. It remains to show that (3.18b) satisfies the localizability condition from Definition 3.3, for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Using Remark 3.4 and Assumption 3.11 (3), it suffices to consider the case where  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  intersects at most one of the  $U_i$ . Without loss of generality, we can take this to be  $U_n$  (otherwise, we relabel the subsets), hence we may assume that  $U \cap U_i = \emptyset$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ . Since  $\pi_i \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(2l,\pi_0)}(U_i)$ , there exists by definition a unitary operator  $u_i : H \to H$  such that  $u_i \circ \pi_{is}(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_i$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ . (Note that this condition specializes to the commutativity property  $u_i \circ \pi_{0s}(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_i$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ .) We claim that the composition  $u := u_1 \circ \cdots \circ u_n : H \to H$  of these unitaries (with the distinguished  $u_n$  on the right, but otherwise an arbitrary composition order) satisfies

$$u \circ (\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n)_s(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u$$
, (3.19a)

for all  $s \in U^c$ , which would complete the proof that  $\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  defines an object. For  $s \in U_1^c \cap \cdots \cap U_n^c \cap U^c$ , this follows directly from the commutativity of  $u_i$  and  $\pi_{0s}$  in this case. For  $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$  and  $s \in U_i \cap U^c$ , this follows from the calculation

$$u_{1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n} \circ \pi_{is}(-) = u_{1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{i} \circ \pi_{is}(-) \circ u_{i+1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}$$

$$= u_{1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{i-1} \circ \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_{i} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}$$

$$= \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_{1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}, \qquad (3.19b)$$

where the first step uses Assumption 3.13 (3), the second step uses the intertwining property of  $u_i$ , and the last step follows from the commutativity of  $u_j$  and  $\pi_{0s}$ , noting that  $s \in U_i \cap U^c \subseteq U_j^c \cap U^c$  for all  $j \neq i$ . For  $s \in U_n \cap U^c$ , this follows directly from a similar calculation

$$u_1 \circ \cdots \circ u_n \circ \pi_{ns}(-) = u_1 \circ \cdots \circ u_{n-1} \circ \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_n = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u_1 \circ \cdots \circ u_n$$
, (3.19c)

which does not require Assumption 3.13 (3).

To verify that  $L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n : \pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n \to \pi'_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi'_n$  defines a morphism in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$ , we have to show that

$$(L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n) \circ (\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n)_s(-) = (\pi'_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi'_n)_s(-) \circ (L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n),$$
(3.20)

for all  $s \in S$ . For  $s \in U_1^c \cap \cdots \cap U_n^c$ , this follows directly from (3.4) and the fact that  $L_i : \pi_i \to \pi_i'$  is a morphism in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_i)$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ . For  $s \in U_i$ , this follows directly from Assumption 3.13 (2) and a similar calculation as in the previous paragraph.

The assignment in (3.18) is clearly functorial by using that  $L_i \circ L_j = L_j \circ L_i$ , for all  $i \neq j$ , from Assumption 3.13 (2). By a similar argument one shows that this linear functor preserves the \*-involutions  $(L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n)^* = (L_1 \circ \cdots \circ L_n)^* = (L_n \circ \cdots \circ L_1)^* = L_1^* \circ \cdots \circ L_n^* = L_1^* \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n^*$ .

**Proposition 3.15.** Suppose that Assumptions 3.11 (3) and 3.13 are satisfied. Then the functor from Proposition 3.9, the distinguished objects (3.14) and the arity  $(n \ge 2)$ structure maps from Lemma 3.14 define a C\*-categorical prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(2L,\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  over the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}$ . This prefactorization algebra is locally constant in the sense that it assigns to every 1-ary operation  $U \to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  a unitary equivalence of  $C^*$ -categories.

*Proof.* One has to check that the structure maps defined by these data satisfy the axioms of a  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra from Definition 2.21, see in particular the explicit form of these axioms in Remark 2.22. This is evident from the definitions. Local constancy follows directly from Proposition 3.9 since the 1-ary operations  $U \to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  are precisely the morphisms  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbf{C}(S)$ .

We conclude this subsection by showing that Haag duality for  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$ in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , implies the algebraic Assumption 3.13. Let us start with recalling the concept of Haag duality. Using the construction from the second paragraph of Remark 3.2, we obtain injective \*homomorphisms  $\pi_{0U}: \mathfrak{A}(U) \to B(H)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ , and we denote their images by  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)) \subseteq B(H)$ . The  $\perp$ -commutativity property of  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  implies that  $\pi_{0U^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^c)) \subseteq \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'$  is contained in the commutant of  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)) \subseteq$ B(H), for all  $U \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ . Applying the commutant to this inclusion yields

$$\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \subseteq \pi_{0U^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^{c}))',$$
(3.21)

for all  $U \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(S)$ .

**Definition 3.16.** The extended  $\mathfrak{A} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  is said to satisfy *Haag duality for*  $U \in \mathbf{Sub}(S)$  in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$  if the inclusion in (3.21) is an equality

$$\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' = \pi_{0U^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^{c}))'. \tag{3.22}$$

**Theorem 3.17.** Suppose that  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbb{C}(S)$ . Then the algebraic Assumption 3.13 is satisfied. Hence, provided that the geometric Assumption 3.11 (3) is satisfied too, Proposition 3.15 defines a locally constant  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  in this case.

*Proof.* Note that the family of commuting diagrams in (3.15) is equivalent to the condition  $\pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)) \subseteq \pi_{2U_2}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2))'$ . We will check this equivalent condition in order to show that Assumption 3.13 (1) is satisfied. The strict localization condition in (3.9) is equivalent to the identity  $\pi_{iU_i^c} = \pi_{0U_i^c} : \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i^c) \to B(H)$ , for i = 1, 2. Using also  $\perp$ -commutativity of  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  and Haag duality for  $U_i \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , we obtain

$$\pi_{iU_i}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i)) \subseteq \pi_{iU_i^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i^c))' = \pi_{0U_i^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i^c))' = \pi_{0U_i}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i))'', \qquad (3.23)$$

for i = 1, 2. Our claim then follows from

$$\pi_{1U_1}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)\big) \subseteq \pi_{0U_1}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)\big)'' \subseteq \pi_{0U_2^c}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2^c)\big)'' = \pi_{2U_2^c}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2^c)\big)'' \subseteq \pi_{2U_2}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2)\big)' . \tag{3.24}$$

The first step uses (3.23) for i=1, the second step follows from  $U_1 \subseteq U_2^c$  since  $U_1 \cap U_2 = \emptyset$ , the third step uses the strict localization condition  $\pi_{2U_2^c} = \pi_{0U_2^c}$ , and the last step follows by applying the commutant to the first inclusion in (3.23) for i=2.

Concerning Assumption 3.13 (2), we start with observing that, as a consequence of the strict localizations of the objects  $\pi_1, \pi_1' \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_1)$  and  $\pi_2, \pi_2' \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_2)$ , the property of the morphisms  $L_1 : \pi_1 \to \pi_1'$  and  $L_2 : \pi_2 \to \pi_2'$  in (3.4) implies that

$$L_{1} \in \pi_{0U_{1}^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{1}^{c}))' = \pi_{0U_{1}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{1}))'', \qquad L_{2} \in \pi_{0U_{2}^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{2}^{c}))' = \pi_{0U_{2}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{2}))'',$$

$$(3.25)$$

where the equalities use Haag duality. Since applying twice the commutant to the  $\bot$ -commutativity condition  $\pi_{0U_1}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)\big)\subseteq \pi_{0U_2}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2)\big)'$ , for  $U_1\cap U_2=\varnothing$ , yields  $\pi_{0U_1}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)\big)''\subseteq \pi_{0U_2}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2)\big)'''$ , we find that  $L_1\circ L_2=L_2\circ L_1$  and hence the assumption in (3.16a) holds true. The family of commutative diagrams in (3.16b) is equivalent to the conditions  $L_1\in\pi_{2U_2}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2)\big)'$  and  $L_2\in\pi_{1U_1}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)\big)'$ . Focusing on the case of  $L_1$ , we observe that

$$\pi_{2U_2}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2)) \subseteq \pi_{0U_2^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2^c))' \subseteq \pi_{0U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))', \tag{3.26}$$

where the first step is given by (3.23) and the second step follows from  $U_1 \subseteq U_2^c$ . Applying the commutant to this inclusion, we obtain  $\pi_{0U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'' \subseteq \pi_{2U_2}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2))'$ , hence our claim that  $L_1 \in \pi_{2U_2}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_2))'$  follows from (3.25). Exchanging the labels 1 and 2, the same argument shows that  $L_2 \in \pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'$ .

Concerning Assumption 3.13 (3), we observe that, as a consequence of the strict localization properties of the domain and codomain of the unitaries (3.11), it follows that

$$u_{2} \in \pi_{0(U_{2}^{c} \cap U^{c})} \left( \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{2}^{c} \cap U^{c}) \right)' \subseteq \pi_{0U_{1}} \left( \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{1}) \right)' = \pi_{0U_{1}^{c}} \left( \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_{1}^{c}) \right)'', \tag{3.27}$$

where the first subset inclusion follows from  $U_1\subseteq U_2^c\cap U^c$ . The last equality follows from Haag duality  $\pi_{0U_1^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1^c))'=\pi_{0U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))''$  for  $U_1\in \mathbf{C}(S)$  by taking once more the commutant  $\pi_{0U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'''=\pi_{0U_1^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1^c))''$  and using that (-)'''=(-)'. The family of commutative diagrams (3.17) is equivalent to the condition  $u_2\in\pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'$ . By the same arguments as in the paragraphs above, we have that

$$\pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1)) \subseteq \pi_{1U_1^{\mathfrak{c}}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1^{\mathfrak{c}}))' = \pi_{0U_1^{\mathfrak{c}}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1^{\mathfrak{c}}))'. \tag{3.28}$$

Applying the commutant to this inclusion we get  $\pi_{0U_1^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1^c))'' \subseteq \pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'$ , hence our claim that  $u_2 \in \pi_{1U_1}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_1))'$  follows from (3.27).

3.2. Object-wise monoidal structure. We will show later in Sect. 4 that the locally constant  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebra  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \to C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  from Proposition 3.15 describes only a certain part of the structure of the braided monoidal  $C^*$ -categories of superselection sectors for lattice AQFTs on  $S = \mathbb{Z}^2$  exhibited in [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22]. The other part is an (independent) monoidal structure on each  $C^*$ -category  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which is compatible with this prefactorization algebra structure. The construction of such object-wise monoidal structures

is facilitated by Haag duality and it goes back to the early works of Doplicher, Haag and Roberts [DHR71] and Buchholz and Fredenhagen [BF82]. Let us briefly recall the main tools entering these constructions.

**Lemma 3.18.** Suppose that the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbb{C}(S)$ .

(1) Given any  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$ , the \*-homomorphism  $\pi_U : \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to B(H)$  factorizes

$$\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \xrightarrow{\pi_{U}} B(H)$$

$$\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))^{"}$$
(3.29)

through the bicommutant  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \subseteq B(H)$ .

(2) Suppose that the geometric Assumption 3.11 (1) is satisfied. Given any  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$ (U), the \*-homomorphism  $\pi_U: \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$  in the factorization (3.29) extends uniquely along  $\pi_{0U}: \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$  to a weakly continuous \*endomorphism

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) & & & & \\
\pi_{0U} & & & & & \\
\pi_{0U} \left(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)\right)'' & - & & & \\
\pi_{0U} \left(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)\right)'' & - & & & \\
\end{array} (3.30)$$

of the bicommutant  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \subseteq B(H)$ .

(3) Suppose that the geometric Assumption 3.11 (1) is satisfied. Given any morphism  $U \subseteq V$  in  $\mathbf{C}(S)$  and any  $\pi \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \subseteq \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$ , then applying the construction in item (2) to both U and V yields the commutative diagram

$$\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \xrightarrow{\rho_U} \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\pi_{0V}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(V))'' \xrightarrow{\rho_V} \pi_{0V}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(V))''$$
(3.31)

of \*-homomorphisms.

- (4) Any morphism  $L: \pi \to \pi'$  in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$  defines an element  $L \in \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \subseteq$ B(H).
- (5) Given any  $\pi \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$  and any  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , the unitary isomorphism  $u : \pi \to \infty$  $\pi^u$  from (3.11) to the associated  $\pi^u \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  strictly localized in V defines an element  $u \in \pi_{0W}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W))'' \subseteq B(H)$ , for every  $W \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $U \cup V \subseteq W$ .

Proof. Item (1) follows from

$$\pi_{U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)) \subseteq \pi_{U^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^{c}))' = \pi_{0U^{c}}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^{c}))' = \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'', \qquad (3.32)$$

where the first step uses \pm -commutativity, the second step uses the strict localization of  $\pi$  in U and the third step uses Haag duality.

To show item (2), we choose any  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that  $V \subseteq U^c$ , which exists by Assumption 3.11 (1). Using the localizability condition from (3.8), there exists a unitary operator  $u: H \to H$  such that  $u \circ \pi_s(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u$ , for all  $s \in V^c$ . Since by hypothesis  $U \subseteq V^c$ , this implies that  $\pi_U(-) = u^* \circ \pi_{0U}(-) \circ u : \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to B(H)$ . Using the \*-isomorphism  $\pi_{0U} : \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \to \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))$  to identify  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)$  with  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))$ , we define the \*-homomorphism

$$\rho_U := \pi_U \, \pi_{0U}^{-1} : \, \pi_{0U} \big( \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \big) \, \longrightarrow \, \pi_{0U} \big( \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \big)'' \,, \quad a \, \longmapsto \, \rho_U(a) \, = \, u^* \circ a \circ u \,. \tag{3.33}$$

Since adjoint actions by unitaries are weakly continuous,  $\rho_U$  admits a unique continuous extension to the desired \*-endomorphism on the weak completion  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$  of  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)) \subseteq B(H)$ .

To show item (3), note that by weak continuity it suffices to pre-compose this diagram with the dense map  $\pi_{0U}:\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)\to\pi_{0U}\big(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U)\big)''$ . The result then follows from the diagram

$$\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U) \xrightarrow{\pi_{0U}} \pi_{0U} (\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \xrightarrow{\rho_{U}} \pi_{0U} (\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad$$

which commutes as a consequence of  $\pi_U$  and  $\pi_V$  satisfying commutative triangles as in (3.6).

To show item (4), note that the strict localization of  $\pi$  and  $\pi'$  in U and the definition of morphisms in (3.4) implies that  $L \circ \pi_{0U^c}(-) = L \circ \pi_{U^c}(-) = \pi'_{U^c}(-) \circ L = \pi_{0U^c}(-) \circ L$ . Hence,  $L \in \pi_{0U^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U^c))' = \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$  by Haag duality.

To show item (5), note that the strict localization of  $\pi$  in U and of  $\pi^u$  in V implies that  $u \circ \pi_{0(U^c \cap V^c)}(-) = u \circ \pi_{U^c \cap V^c}(-) = \pi^u_{U^c \cap V^c}(-) \circ u = \pi_{0(U^c \cap V^c)}(-) \circ u$ . Since  $U \cup V \subseteq W$  implies  $W^c \subseteq U^c \cap V^c$ , it follows that  $u \in \pi_{0W^c}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W^c))' = \pi_{0W}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W))''$  by Haag duality.

Using these tools we can now define the object-wise monoidal structure.

**Lemma 3.19.** Suppose that the geometric Assumptions 3.11 (1) and (2) are satisfied, and that  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . For each  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ , consider the assignment from the algebraic tensor product

$$\diamond : \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \otimes \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \longrightarrow \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) ,$$

$$(\pi,\dot{\pi}) \longmapsto \pi \diamond \dot{\pi} ,$$

$$L \otimes \dot{L} \longmapsto L \diamond \dot{L}$$

$$(3.35a)$$

given by

$$(\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})_s := \begin{cases} \rho_U \, \dot{\rho}_U \, \pi_{0s} & \text{if } s \in U \,, \\ \pi_{0s} & \text{if } s \in U^c \,, \end{cases} \tag{3.35b}$$

for all  $s \in S$ , and

$$L \diamond \dot{L} := L \circ \rho_U(\dot{L}) , \qquad (3.35c)$$

where  $\rho_U$ ,  $\dot{\rho}_U$ :  $\pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'' \to \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))''$  denote the \*-endomorphisms associated uniquely to  $\pi$  and  $\dot{\pi}$  via Lemma 3.18. Then (3.35) is a well-defined \*-functor.

*Proof.* The family of \*-homomorphisms (3.35b) is mutually commuting: For  $s, s' \in U$  or  $s, s' \in U^c$  with  $s \neq s'$ , this follows from the fact that  $\pi_{0s}$  and  $\pi_{0s'}$  are mutually commuting. For  $s \in U$  and  $s' \in U^c$ , this follows from  $\pi_{0s'}(\mathfrak{A}(s')) \subseteq \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))' = \pi_{0U}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U))'''$ , where the first step uses  $\bot$ -commutativity. Note that  $(\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})_s = \pi_{0s}$ , for all  $s \in U^c$ , is by definition strictly localized in U. We claim that it satisfies also the localizability condition from Definition 3.3, for all other  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Using Assumption 3.11 (2) and Remark 3.4, it suffices to prove this claim only for those objects  $V \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  such that there exists  $W \in \mathbf{C}(S)$  with  $U \cup V \subseteq W$ . Since  $\pi, \dot{\pi} \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$ , there exist by definition unitary operators  $u, \dot{u} : H \to H$  such that  $\pi^u, \dot{\pi}^{\dot{u}} \in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  are strictly localized in V. Using further that  $U \cup V \subseteq W$ , we obtain from Lemma 3.18 (5) that  $u, \dot{u} \in \pi_{0W}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W))'' \subseteq B(H)$ . We claim that the unitary operator  $\ddot{u} := u \circ \rho_W(\dot{u}) : H \to H$ , with  $\rho_W$  described in Lemma 3.18 (3), defines a unitary isomorphism  $\ddot{u} : \pi \diamond \dot{\pi} \to (\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})^{\ddot{u}}$  with  $(\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})^{\ddot{u}}$  localized strictly in V, i.e.

$$\tilde{u} \circ (\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})_{s}(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ \tilde{u} , \qquad (3.36a)$$

for all  $s \in V^c$ . In order to verify these identities, it is convenient to observe that Lemma 3.18 (3) for  $U \subseteq W$  allows us to rewrite (3.35b) equivalently as

$$(\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})_s = \begin{cases} \rho_W \, \dot{\rho}_W \, \pi_{0s} & \text{if } s \in W, \\ \pi_{0s} & \text{if } s \in W^c. \end{cases}$$
 (3.36b)

For  $s \in V^c \cap W^c$ , one then verifies (3.36a) by

$$u \circ \rho_W(\dot{u}) \circ \pi_{0s}(-) = \pi_{0s}(-) \circ u \circ \rho_W(\dot{u}),$$
 (3.36c)

where we use  $\perp$ -commutativity in the form  $\pi_{0s}(\mathfrak{A}(s)) \subseteq \pi_{0W}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W))' = \pi_{0W}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(W))'''$  together with Lemma 3.18 (5). For  $s \in V^{c} \cap W$ , we compute, for all  $a \in \mathfrak{A}(s)$ ,

$$u \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u}) \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{\rho}_{W}(\pi_{0s}(a))) = u \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u}) \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{\pi}_{s}(a))$$

$$= u \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u} \circ \dot{\pi}_{s}(a)))$$

$$= u \circ \rho_{W}(\pi_{0s}(a) \circ \dot{u})$$

$$= u \circ \rho_{W}(\pi_{0s}(a)) \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u})$$

$$= u \circ \pi_{s}(a) \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u})$$

$$= \pi_{0s}(a) \circ u \circ \rho_{W}(\dot{u}) . \tag{3.36d}$$

Steps one and five use Lemma 3.18 (2), steps two and four use that the  $\rho$ 's are \*-endomorphisms, and steps three and six use the intertwining properties of the u's.

To verify that  $L \diamond \dot{L} : \pi \diamond \dot{\pi} \to \pi' \diamond \dot{\pi}'$  defines a morphism in  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$ , we have to show that

$$(L \diamond \dot{L}) \circ (\pi \diamond \dot{\pi})_{s}(-) = (\pi' \diamond \dot{\pi}')_{s}(-) \circ (L \diamond \dot{L}), \qquad (3.37a)$$

for all  $s \in S$ . For  $s \in U^c$ , this follows directly from Lemma 3.18 (4). For  $s \in U$ , we compute, for all  $a \in \mathfrak{A}(s)$ ,

$$L \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{L}) \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{\rho}_{U}(\pi_{0s}(a))) = L \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{L} \circ \dot{\rho}_{U}(\pi_{0s}(a)))$$

$$= L \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{\rho}'_{U}(\pi_{0s}(a)) \circ \dot{L})$$

$$= L \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{\rho}'_{U}(\pi_{0s}(a))) \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{L})$$

$$= \rho'_{U}(\dot{\rho}'_{U}(\pi_{0s}(a))) \circ L \circ \rho_{U}(\dot{L}) . \tag{3.37b}$$

Steps one and three use that the  $\rho$ 's are \*-endomorphisms. Steps two and four use the intertwining properties (3.4) between the *L*'s and the  $\pi$ 's, which imply via Lemma 3.18 (2) analogous intertwining properties between the *L*'s and the  $\rho$ 's.

The assignment (3.35) clearly preserves the identity morphisms. To show that it preserves compositions, we have to check the interchange law

$$(L' \circ L) \diamond (\dot{L}' \circ \dot{L}) = (L' \diamond \dot{L}') \circ (L \diamond \dot{L}) : \pi \diamond \dot{\pi} \longrightarrow \pi'' \diamond \dot{\pi}'', \tag{3.38a}$$

for any four morphisms  $L: \pi \to \pi', L': \pi' \to \pi'', \dot{L}: \dot{\pi} \to \dot{\pi}'$  and  $\dot{L}': \dot{\pi}' \to \dot{\pi}''$ . This is shown by the following computation

$$(L' \circ L) \diamond (\dot{L}' \circ \dot{L}) = L' \circ L \circ \rho_U(\dot{L}') \circ \rho_U(\dot{L}) = L' \circ \rho'_U(\dot{L}') \circ L \circ \rho_U(\dot{L})$$
$$= (L' \diamond \dot{L}') \circ (L \diamond \dot{L}), \tag{3.38b}$$

where the second step uses the intertwining property (3.4) of  $L: \pi \to \pi'$ . One also easily checks that this linear functor preserves the \*-involutions

$$(L \diamond \dot{L})^* = (L \circ \rho_U(\dot{L}))^* = (\rho_U'(\dot{L}) \circ L)^* = L^* \circ \rho_U'(\dot{L}^*) = L^* \diamond \dot{L}^*. \quad (3.39)$$

**Proposition 3.20.** Suppose that the geometric Assumptions 3.11 (1) and (2) are satisfied, and that  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Then the \*-functor from Lemma 3.19 and the distinguished object (3.14) endow  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \in C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  with the structure of a strict monoidal  $C^*$ -category, for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ .

*Proof.* This is a simple check using the definitions in (3.35). To check associativity on objects  $\pi \diamond (\dot{\pi} \diamond \ddot{\pi}) = (\pi \diamond \dot{\pi}) \diamond \ddot{\pi}$ , we observe that the  $s \in U^c$  components of both sides give  $\pi_{0s}$ , while for  $s \in U$  we have

$$\left(\pi \diamond (\dot{\pi} \diamond \ddot{\pi})\right)_{s} = \rho_{U} \dot{\rho}_{U} \ddot{\rho}_{U} \pi_{0s} = \left((\pi \diamond \dot{\pi}) \diamond \ddot{\pi}\right)_{s}. \tag{3.40}$$

To check associativity on morphisms, we compute

$$L \diamond (\dot{L} \diamond \ddot{L}) = L \circ \rho_U(\dot{L}) \circ \rho_U(\dot{\rho}_U(\ddot{L})) = (L \diamond \dot{L}) \diamond \ddot{L}. \tag{3.41}$$

Unitality  $\pi \diamond \pi_0 = \pi = \pi_0 \diamond \pi$  is obvious since the \*-endomorphism corresponding to  $\pi_0$  via Lemma 3.18 is given by the identity  $\rho_{0U} = \mathrm{id}$ .

3.3. Compatibility of the two structures. We will now show that the prefactorization algebra and object-wise monoidal structures from the previous two subsections are compatible with each other. This leads to the following main result.

**Theorem 3.21.** Suppose that the geometric Assumption 3.11 is satisfied and that the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Then the object-wise monoidal structures from Proposition 3.20 are compatible with the prefactorization algebra structure from Theorem 3.17 in the sense that they define a locally constant prefactorization algebra

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \longrightarrow Alg_{\mathsf{uAs}}(C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}})$$
 (3.42a)

with values in the symmetric monoidal category  $\mathbf{Alg}_{\mathsf{UAS}}(C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}})$  of strict monoidal  $C^*$ -categories and strict monoidal \*-functors. This is equivalent to the datum of a unital associative algebra

$$\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathsf{uAs}} \Big( C^* \mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \Big)$$
 (3.42b)

in the category of  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebras  $C^*\mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  from Definition 2.21 (endowed with the object-wise symmetric monoidal structure), whose underlying prefactorization algebra is locally constant.

*Proof.* We have to show that the structure maps

• : 
$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U_i) \longrightarrow \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$$
 (3.43)

in (3.18) are strict monoidal \*-functors, for all operations  $U = (U_1, \ldots, U_n) \to V$  in the operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$ . For arity n=0 and n=1 operations this is evident, so we consider the case of  $n \ge 2$ . As a direct consequence of its definition in (3.18b), it follows that • preserves the monoidal units  $\pi_0 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_0 = \pi_0$ . Concerning the monoidal product on objects, we have to verify the interchange law

$$((\pi_1 \diamond \dot{\pi}_1) \bullet \cdots \bullet (\pi_n \diamond \dot{\pi}_n))_s = ((\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n) \diamond (\dot{\pi}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{\pi}_n))_s, \qquad (3.44)$$

for all  $s \in S$ . This is obvious for  $s \in V^c$ . For  $s \in V$ , the right-hand side of (3.44) reads as

$$((\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n) \diamond (\dot{\pi}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{\pi}_n))_s = \rho_V \dot{\rho}_V \pi_{0s} , \qquad (3.45)$$

where  $\rho_V$  and  $\dot{\rho}_V$  denote the \*-endomorphisms corresponding to  $\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n$  and  $\dot{\pi}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{\pi}_n$  respectively. These are defined uniquely according to Lemma 3.18 (2) by the factorizations  $(\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n)_V = \rho_V \, \pi_{0V}$  and  $(\dot{\pi}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{\pi}_n)_V = \dot{\rho}_V \, \pi_{0V}$ . Given any  $s \in V \cap U_1^c \cap \cdots \cap U_n^c$ , restricting along  $\mathfrak{A}(s) \to \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(V)$  yields the identities  $\pi_{0s} = \rho_V \pi_{0s}$ and  $\pi_{0s} = \dot{\rho}_V \, \pi_{0s}$ , hence  $\rho_V \, \dot{\rho}_V \, \pi_{0s} = \pi_{0s}$ , which implies that (3.44) holds true also for all  $s \in V \cap U_1^c \cap \cdots \cap U_n^c$ . By restricting along  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i) \to \overline{\mathfrak{A}}(V)$  we obtain the identities  $\pi_{iU_i} = \rho_{iU_i} \pi_{0U_i} = \rho_V \pi_{0U_i}$  and  $\dot{\pi}_{iU_i} = \dot{\rho}_{iU_i} \pi_{0U_i} = \dot{\rho}_V \pi_{0U_i}$ . Hence, for all  $s \in U_i$ , we have that  $\rho_V \dot{\rho}_V \pi_{0s} = \rho_V \dot{\rho}_{iU_i} \pi_{0s} = \rho_{iU_i} \dot{\rho}_{iU_i} \pi_{0s}$ , because the image of  $\dot{\rho}_{iU_i}$  lies in  $\pi_{0U_i}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i))''$ . This implies that (3.44) holds true also for all  $s \in U_i$ , for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . This exhausts all possible cases, so we can conclude that (3.44) holds true for all  $s \in S$ . Concerning the monoidal product on morphisms, we have to verify that

$$(L_1 \diamond \dot{L}_1) \bullet \cdots \bullet (L_n \diamond \dot{L}_n) = (L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n) \diamond (\dot{L}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{L}_n). \tag{3.46}$$

Since  $L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n : \pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n \to \pi'_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi'_n$  is a morphism from  $\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n \in$  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$ , the right-hand side of (3.46) is defined according to (3.35c) and (3.18c)

$$(L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n) \diamond (\dot{L}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{L}_n) = L_1 \circ \cdots \circ L_n \circ \rho_V (\dot{L}_1 \circ \cdots \circ \dot{L}_n)$$

$$= L_1 \circ \cdots \circ L_n \circ \rho_V (\dot{L}_1) \circ \cdots \circ \rho_V (\dot{L}_n) , \quad (3.47)$$

where  $\rho_V$  is the \*-endomorphism corresponding to  $\pi_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \pi_n \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  discussed in the paragraph above. Since  $\dot{L}_i \in \pi_{0U_i}(\overline{\mathfrak{A}}(U_i))''$  by Lemma 3.18 (4), we can

write  $\rho_V(\dot{L}_i) = \rho_{iU_i}(\dot{L}_i)$ . Using also  $\perp$ -commutativity and the fact that  $U_i \cap U_j = \emptyset$  are disjoint, for all  $i \neq j$ , we can reorder the factors in (3.47) according to

$$(L_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet L_n) \diamond (\dot{L}_1 \bullet \cdots \bullet \dot{L}_n) = L_1 \circ \rho_{1U_1}(\dot{L}_1) \circ \cdots \circ L_n \circ \rho_{nU_n}(\dot{L}_n) , \quad (3.48)$$

which implies that the identity (3.46) holds true.

One can rephrase the result of Theorem 3.21 in the language of categorified AQFTs introduced in [BPSW21]. The key ingredient for this reinterpretation is [BPSW21, Theorem 2.9], which shows that the Boardman-Vogt tensor product  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \otimes_{\mathrm{BV}} \mathsf{uAs} \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  of the prefactorization operad from Definition 2.20 and the unital associative operad uAs is equivalent to the AQFT operad  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}$  from [BSW21]. As a direct consequence, we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 3.22.** Suppose that the geometric Assumption 3.11 is satisfied and that the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(S)$  in (3.1) satisfies Haag duality in the reference \*-representation  $(H, \pi_0)$ , for all  $U \in \mathbf{C}(S)$ . Then the locally constant prefactorization algebra from Theorem 3.21 is equivalent to the datum of a locally constant categorified AQFT

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}: \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}} \longrightarrow C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$$
(3.49)

over the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}$  with values in the symmetric monoidal category  $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of  $C^*$ -categories and \*-functors.

Remark 3.23. We believe that this corollary is quite curious and interesting. It shows that applying superselection theory [DHR71,BF82], in the specific form presented above, to an ordinary AQFT  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}$  results in a categorified AQFT  $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$ . This categorified AQFT is locally constant, which means that it describes only (some part of) the topological content of the original not necessarily topological AQFT  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}$ . Hence, one may interpret the theory of superselection sectors as a concrete and powerful tool to "extract the topological content of a not necessarily topological AQFT". This perspective also matches perfectly the way how superselection theory is used in practice for the description of topological order in (non-topological) quantum lattice models, see e.g. [Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22].

# **4.** Quantum Systems on the Lattice $\mathbb{Z}^n$

We will now specialize the results from Sect. 3 to the case where the set  $S = \mathbb{Z}^n$  is the n-dimensional lattice. Motivated by earlier works on topological order in 2-dimensional quantum spin systems [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22], we consider as localization regions the category of cone-shaped subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ , which we define by intersecting open cones in the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . A convenient way to parametrize open cones in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is by their apex  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , normalized center direction  $t \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and opening angle  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ . Explicitly, the open cone associated to such data is given by the open subset

$$C_{(p,t,\alpha)} := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{p\} : \operatorname{angle}(x - p, t) < \alpha \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : (x - p) \cdot t > \|x - p\| \cos(\alpha) \right\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n , \tag{4.1}$$

where  $\cdot$  and  $\|\cdot\|$  denote the standard inner product and its associated norm on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For an opening angle  $\alpha \neq \frac{\pi}{2}$ , the tuple of data  $(p, t, \alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \times (0, \pi)$  specifies open

cones in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  faithfully, i.e.  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)}=C_{(p',t',\alpha')}$  if and only if  $(p',t',\alpha')=(p,t,\alpha)$ . For  $\alpha=\frac{\pi}{2}$ , i.e. in the case where open cones are half-spaces, there are some mild degeneracies in this parametrization, namely  $C_{(p,t,\frac{\pi}{2})}=C_{(p',t',\alpha')}$  if and only if  $\alpha'=\frac{\pi}{2}$ , t'=t and p'=p+q for some  $q\in\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $q\cdot t=0$ .

**Definition 4.1.** The *category of cone-shaped subsets of*  $\mathbb{Z}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is defined as the full subcategory  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n) \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  whose objects are of the form  $U = C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^n$ , for some open cone  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  as in (4.1).

**Proposition 4.2.** The full subcategory  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n) \subseteq \mathbf{Sub}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  from Definition 4.1 satisfies the geometric Assumption 3.11.

*Proof.* We make use of the following geometric facts about open cones in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ :

(G1) Given any open cone  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , its complement in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is given by the closure

$$(C_{(p,t,\alpha)})^{c} = \overline{C_{(p,-t,\pi-\alpha)}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n}$$
(4.2)

of the open cone  $C_{(p,-t,\pi-\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  which is associated with the complementary parameters  $(p,-t,\pi-\alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \times (0,\pi)$ .

- (G2) Given any open cone  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , any point  $q \in \overline{C_{(p,t,\alpha)}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  in its closure and any normalized direction  $u \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  such that  $\operatorname{angle}(t,u) < \alpha$ , then  $C_{(q,u,\beta)} \subseteq C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  for all  $\beta < \alpha$  angle(t,u).
- (G3) Given any open cone  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , any point  $q \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and any normalized direction  $u \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  such that angle  $(t,u) < \alpha$ , then the half-line  $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \ni \lambda \mapsto q + \lambda u \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is contained eventually in  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e. there exists  $\lambda_* \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$  such that  $q + \lambda u \in C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  for all  $\lambda \geq \lambda_*$ .

Item (1): Given any  $U = C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ , we use the geometric fact (G1) to define  $V = C_{(p,-t,\pi-\alpha)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  which satisfies  $V \subseteq U^c$ .

Item (2): Note that it suffices to consider the case where  $U = C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  and  $V = C_{(q,u,\beta)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  are such that the normalized directions are not antipodal  $t \neq -u$ . Indeed, if t = -u, we can apply the geometric fact (G2) to obtain a smaller open cone  $C_{(q,\tilde{u},\tilde{\beta})} \subseteq C_{(q,u,\beta)}$  with  $t \neq -\tilde{u}$  and prove item (2) by exhibiting cone-shaped subsets  $V' \subseteq \tilde{V} \subseteq V$  which are contained in  $\tilde{V} = C_{(q,\tilde{u},\tilde{\beta})} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ .

Therefore, assuming without loss of generality that  $t \neq -u$ , there exists an opening angle  $\gamma \in (0, \pi)$  with  $\gamma > \alpha$  and  $\gamma > \text{angle}(t, u)$ . Using (G2) and (G3), this implies that  $C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \subseteq C_{(p,t,\gamma)}$  and that the half-line  $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \ni \lambda \mapsto q + \lambda u \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is contained eventually in  $C_{(p,t,\gamma)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ . We set

$$W := C_{(p,t,\gamma)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n) \tag{4.3}$$

and observe that  $U \subseteq W$  holds true by construction. In order to exhibit  $V' \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  of the form  $V' = C_{(q',u',\beta')} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n$ , satisfying  $V' \subseteq V$  and  $V' \subseteq W$ , we use the eventual containedness property of the half-line and choose any  $q' \in C_{(p,t,\gamma)} \cap C_{(q,u,\beta)}$  such that  $q' + \lambda u \in C_{(p,t,\gamma)} \cap C_{(q,u,\beta)}$ , for all  $\lambda \geq 0$ . Choosing u' = u and any  $\beta' \in (0,\pi)$  such that  $\beta' < \beta$  and  $\beta' < \gamma$  — angle(t,u), we obtain from (G2) that  $C_{(q',u,\beta')} \subseteq C_{(q,u,\beta)}$  and  $C_{(q',u,\beta')} \subseteq C_{(p,t,\gamma)}$ , hence  $V' \subseteq V$  and  $V' \subseteq W$ .

Item (3): Note that it suffices to consider the case where  $U = C_{(p,t,\alpha)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  and  $U_i = C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  are such that  $\mathrm{angle}(t,t_i) \neq \alpha_i$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ . This follows as above by applying the geometric fact (G2) in order to

shrink the open cone representing U to a smaller cone with a slightly altered normalized direction which satisfies this property. To carry out the proof, we make a case distinction. In the case where  $\operatorname{angle}(t,t_i)>\alpha_i$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ , one obtains from (G3) that the half-line  $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\ni \lambda\mapsto p+\lambda\,t\in\mathbb{R}^n$  is contained eventually in the intersection  $\bigcap_{i=1}^n C_{(p_i,-t_i,\pi-\alpha_i)}\subseteq\mathbb{R}^n$  of the complementary open cones from (G1). Choosing any  $q\in\bigcap_{i=1}^n C_{(p_i,-t_i,\pi-\alpha_i)}\cap C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  such that  $q+\lambda\,t\in\bigcap_{i=1}^n C_{(p_i,-t_i,\pi-\alpha_i)}\cap C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$ , for all  $\lambda\geq 0$ , and any  $\beta\in(0,\pi)$  such that  $\beta<\alpha$  and  $\beta<\operatorname{angle}(t,t_i)-\alpha_i$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ , we obtain from (G2) that  $C_{(q,t,\beta)}\subseteq C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  and  $C_{(q,t,\beta)}\cap C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)}=\varnothing$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ . Hence,  $V=C_{(q,t,\beta)}\cap\mathbb{Z}^n\in\operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  satisfies  $V\subseteq U$  and  $V\cap U_i=\varnothing$ , for all  $i=1,\ldots,n$ .

Consider now the case where  $\operatorname{angle}(t,t_i) < \alpha_i$  for some  $i \in \{1,\ldots,n\}$ . Then (G3) implies that the half-line  $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \ni \lambda \mapsto p + \lambda t \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is contained eventually in  $C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , so we can choose  $q \in C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)} \cap C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  such that  $q + \lambda t \in C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)} \cap C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$ , for all  $\lambda \geq 0$ . Choosing further any  $\beta \in (0,\pi)$  such that  $\beta < \alpha$  and  $\beta < \alpha_i - \operatorname{angle}(t,t_i)$ , we obtain from (G2) that that  $C_{(q,t,\beta)} \subseteq C_{(p,t,\alpha)}$  and  $C_{(q,t,\beta)} \subseteq C_{(p_i,t_i,\alpha_i)}$ . Hence,  $V = C_{(q,t,\beta)} \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \in \operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  satisfies  $V \subseteq U$  and  $V \subseteq U_i$ , which via mutual disjointness of  $(U_1,\ldots,U_n)$  implies that  $V \cap U_j = \emptyset$ , for all  $j \neq i$ .

The following result is a direct consequence of Theorem 3.21 and Proposition 4.2.

**Corollary 4.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{A} = {\{\mathfrak{A}(x)\}_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^n}} \in C^*\mathbf{Alg}^{\mathbb{Z}^n}_{\mathbb{C}}$  be any family of  $C^*$ -algebras which is indexed by the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  and let  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  be any faithful \*-representation such that the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  in (3.1) satisfies Haag duality, for all cone-shaped subsets  $U \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ . Then the  $C^*$ -categories of localized superselection sectors carry via Theorem 3.21 the structure of a unital associative algebra

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathsf{uAS}}\Big(C^*\mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}\Big) \tag{4.4}$$

in the category of  $C^*$ -categorical prefactorization algebras  $C^*\mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}$  from Definition 2.21, whose underlying prefactorization algebra is locally constant.

Example 4.4. A concrete example satisfying the hypotheses of Corollary 4.3 is given by Kitaev's quantum double model [Kit03] on the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  for a finite group G. In this example one considers the matrix algebra  $\mathfrak{A}(s) = \operatorname{Mat}_{|G|}(\mathbb{C}) \in C^*\operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , for all  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ , and  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  the GNS representation of the (unique) translation invariant ground state of the Kitaev model Hamiltonian. Haag duality for this model, which is crucial for Corollary 4.3, has been proven in [FN15] for Abelian G and more recently in [OPR25] for general G. Furthermore, an explicit description of the superselection sectors of Kitaev's quantum double model is presented in [Naa11,FN15] for Abelian G and in [Naa15,BHNV25] for general finite groups G.

4.1. An ∞-categorical analysis of the algebraic structures. In this subsection we explain how from our Corollary 4.3 one can recover the results from [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15, FN15,Oga22] that superselection sectors of lattice  $C^*$ -AQFTs on  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  form a braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category. Our approach will also provide a generalization of these results to lattices  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  of arbitrary dimension  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  and identify new algebraic structures which do not seem to have been observed in the literature before, even for the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ .

In order to state and prove our results, it will be convenient to use some aspects of Lurie's theory of  $\infty$ -categories and  $\infty$ -operads [LurHA]. This is undeniably a vast

and highly technical subject, but fortunately the reader does not necessarily require a background on these techniques in order to follow our arguments. Despite the fact that the target  $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  in our present scenario is only a 2-categorical object, we prefer to give more general  $\infty$ -categorical arguments in order to accommodate the possibility of higher-categorical lattice models arising in future works, i.e. models whose representation categories are higher categories or even dg-categories. The key facts about  $\infty$ -categories and  $\infty$ -operads which are used below are as follows:

- (F1) The category  $C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$  of  $C^*$ -categories and \*-functors carries the structure of a combinatorial simplicial symmetric monoidal model category, see [Del12, Bun19] and also Theorem 2.18 for a review. Hence, it defines a presentably symmetric monoidal  $\infty$ -category  $C^*$ Cat<sub>C</sub>, see e.g. [NS17]. Since our results below do not depend on specific details of this  $\infty$ -category, we will often replace  $C^*\mathfrak{C}at_{\mathbb{C}}$  by an arbitrary presentably symmetric monoidal  $\infty$ -category  $\mathcal{V}$ .
- (F2) The prefactorization operads  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$  from Definition 2.20 can be regarded, according to [LurHA, Example 2.1.1.21], as ∞-operads, which we denote with abuse of notation by the same symbols. We denote by  $\mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{P}_{C^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V})$  the  $\infty$ -category of  $\mathcal{V}$ valued algebras over the  $\infty$ -operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$ , see e.g. [LurHA, Definition 2.1.2.7]. In the case where  $\mathcal{V} = C^* \mathcal{C}at_{\mathbb{C}}$ , or more generally when  $\mathcal{V}$  is presented by a symmetric monoidal model category, every strict prefactorization algebra as in Definition 2.21 defines an object in this  $\infty$ -category, see e.g. [Hau19].
- (F3) Given any orthogonal category  $\mathbb{C}^{\perp}$  and any subset  $W \subseteq \text{Mor}(\mathbb{C})$  of morphisms, one can consider the full ∞-subcategory

$$\mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}}^{W\text{-l.c.}}(\mathcal{V}) \subseteq \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.5}$$

spanned, in the sense of [LurHTT, Section 1.2.11], by the  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}$ -algebras  $\mathfrak{F}$ :  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}} \to \mathcal{V}$  which send every 1-ary operation  $(f: U \to V) \in W$  to an equivalence in  $\mathcal{V}$ . By definition, our prefactorization algebra from Proposition 3.15 yields an object

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{P}_{C(\mathfrak{D})^{\perp}}}^{l.c.} (C^* \mathfrak{C}at_{\mathbb{C}}), \qquad (4.6)$$

where we use the abbreviated superscript l.c.:= $Mor(\mathbb{C}(S))$ -l.c. (locally constant) in the case where  $W = Mor(\mathbf{C}(S))$  is the set of all morphisms.

(F4) Every orthogonal functor  $F: \mathbb{C}^{\perp} \to \mathbb{D}^{\perp}$ , i.e.  $F(f_1) \perp_{\mathbb{D}} F(f_2)$  for all  $f_1 \perp_{\mathbb{C}} f_2$ , defines a morphism  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}} \to \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{D}^{\perp}}$  of operads, see e.g. [BPSW21], and hence of  $\infty$ -operads. By precomposition, the latter induces a pullback  $\infty$ -functor

$$F^* : \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{n}^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{c}^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}). \tag{4.7}$$

Given further any subsets  $W_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq \operatorname{Mor}(\mathbb{C})$  and  $W_{\mathbb{D}} \subseteq \operatorname{Mor}(\mathbb{D})$  such that  $F(W_{\mathbb{C}}) \subseteq$  $W_{\mathbf{D}}$ , then this pullback  $\infty$ -functor restricts to an  $\infty$ -functor

$$F^*: \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{D}^{\perp}}}^{W_{\mathbf{D}}\text{-l.c.}}(\mathcal{V}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}^{\perp}}}^{W_{\mathbf{C}}\text{-l.c.}}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.8}$$

between the corresponding full  $\infty$ -subcategories of locally constant objects.

(F5) Regarding the unital associative operad uAs as an  $\infty$ -operad, the result in [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9] identifies its ∞-category of algebras

$$\mathcal{A} lg_{\mathsf{UAs}}(\mathcal{V}) \simeq \mathcal{A} lg_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1)^{\perp}}^{1.c.}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.9}$$

with locally constant prefactorization algebras over the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1)^{\perp}$  of all open disks in  $\mathbb{R}^1$  (i.e. open intervals  $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^1$ ) and orthogonality relation given by disjointness of disks. Consequently, our strict unital associative algebra in prefactorization algebras from Theorem 3.21 defines an object

$$\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1)^{\perp}}} \left( \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{C}(S)^{\perp}}} \left( C^* \mathfrak{C} \mathsf{at}_{\mathbb{C}} \right) \right). \tag{4.10}$$

As a first step towards identifying the algebraic structure underlying the prefactorization algebra from Corollary 4.3, we apply the construction in (F4) to the diagram of orthogonal functors

$$\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp} \longleftrightarrow \mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp} \xrightarrow{(-) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp} . \tag{4.11}$$

Here  $\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^\perp\subseteq \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^\perp$  denotes the full orthogonal subcategory of cone-shaped subsets  $U=C_{(0,t,\alpha)}\cap\mathbb{Z}^n\subseteq\mathbb{Z}^n$  which are represented by open cones in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  whose apex is the origin  $0\in\mathbb{R}^n$ . (Note that the representing open cone in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is unique in this case, i.e.  $C_{(0,t,\alpha)}\cap\mathbb{Z}^n=C_{(0,t',\alpha')}\cap\mathbb{Z}^n$  if and only if t'=t and  $\alpha'=\alpha$ .) We further denote by  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp$  the orthogonal category of open disks in the (n-1)-dimensional sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , i.e. objects are all open subsets  $U\subseteq\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  which are diffeomorphic  $U\cong\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  to the (n-1)-dimensional Euclidean space, morphisms are subset inclusions and the orthogonality relation is given by disjointness of disks. The orthogonal functor  $(-)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}:\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^\perp\to\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp$  sends each object  $U=C_{(0,t,\alpha)}\cap\mathbb{Z}^n\in\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^\perp$  to the intersection  $C_{(0,t,\alpha)}\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\in\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp$  of its (unique) representing open cone in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\subseteq\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Proposition 4.5.** The orthogonal functors in (4.11) induce via pullback as in (F4) a diagram of  $\infty$ -functors

$$\mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}_{\Omega}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.12}$$

between the corresponding  $\infty$ -categories of locally constant prefactorization algebras. The left-pointing  $\infty$ -functor is an equivalence of  $\infty$ -categories, hence one obtains an  $\infty$ -functor

$$\mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)} \perp}(\mathcal{V}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \perp}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.13}$$

from locally constant prefactorization algebras over  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}$  to locally constant prefactorization algebras over  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$ .

*Proof.* The image of the orthogonal functor  $(-)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^\perp \to \mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp$  is given by the full orthogonal subcategory  $\mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp \subseteq \mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^\perp$  of all nondense Euclidean open disks in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , i.e. open subsets of the form  $U_{(t,\alpha)} = \left\{x \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \mathrm{angle}(x,t) < \alpha\right\} \subseteq \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  for some  $t \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  and  $\alpha \in (0,\pi)$ . This induces a factorization of the orthogonal functor

$$(-) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} : \mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp} \longleftrightarrow \mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp} (4.14a)$$

into an isomorphism of orthogonal categories followed by a full orthogonal subcategory inclusion. Passing to the ∞-categories of locally constant prefactorization algebras via pullback, we obtain

$$\mathcal{A} \text{lg}^{\text{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\textbf{Disk}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}(\mathcal{V}) \, \longrightarrow \, \mathcal{A} \text{lg}^{\text{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\textbf{Disk}_{\textbf{cucl}}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}(\mathcal{V}) \, \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \, \mathcal{A} \text{lg}^{\text{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\textbf{Cone}_{\Omega}}(\mathbb{Z}^{n})^{\perp}}(\mathcal{V}) \, \, , \qquad (4.14b)$$

where the second arrow is an equivalence of ∞-categories because the underlying orthogonal functor is an isomorphism of orthogonal categories. To show that the first arrow is an equivalence of  $\infty$ -categories, we use [LurHA, Definition 5.4.5.1 and Theorem 5.4.5.9] to obtain the commutative diagram

It is shown in [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9] that the upward-left pointing arrow is an equivalence. To prove that the upward-right pointing arrow is an equivalence too, one mimicks the proof of [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9] while taking into account the following basic geometric facts about disks in  $\mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ :

(1.) For every point  $x \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , the poset

$$\left\{ U \in \mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) : x \in U \right\}$$
 (4.16)

of Euclidean open disks containing x is cofiltered.

(2.) For every  $U \in \mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$  and every finite family  $x_1, \ldots, x_m \in U$  of distinct points, i.e.  $x_i \neq x_j$  for  $i \neq j$ , the poset

$$\left\{ \underline{V} \in \mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\times m} : (\underline{V} \to U) \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}_{\mathrm{eucl}}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}} \text{ and } x_i \in V_i \ \forall i \right\} \quad (4.17)$$

of tuples of mutually disjoint Euclidean open disks in U containing the  $x_i$  is cofiltered.

It then follows that the horizontal arrow in (4.15), and hence the first arrow in (4.14b), is an equivalence too. The  $\infty$ -functor in (4.13) is obtained by choosing any quasi-inverse for the equivalence of  $\infty$ -categories given by the left-pointing  $\infty$ -functor in (4.12).  $\square$ 

Remark 4.6. In simpler words, the result of Proposition 4.5 states that every locally constant prefactorization algebra over  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}$  has an underlying locally constant prefactorization algebra over  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$  which is obtained by applying the  $\infty$ -functor (4.13). In particular, forgetting for the moment the unital associative algebra structure in Corollary 4.3, we can assign to our locally constant prefactorization algebra of localized superselection sectors  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}}(C^*\mathfrak{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}})$  over  $\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}$  a locally constant prefactorization algebra over  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$ . Note that this passage from coneshaped subsets in  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  to open disks in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  might be forgetful because the right-pointing  $\infty$ -functor in (4.12), and hence also the composite  $\infty$ -functor in (4.13), are a priori not equivalences. Answering the question of whether or not this construction is forgetful is conceptually interesting, but not needed here to link our result in Corollary 4.3 to the earlier works in [Naa11, Naa12, Naa15, FN15, Oga22].

The second step towards identifying the algebraic structure underlying the prefactorization algebra from Corollary 4.3 is concerned with the additional unital associative algebra structure. For this we use item (F5) from above and results about additivity of locally constant prefactorization algebras.

**Proposition 4.7.** The  $\infty$ -functor in (4.13) induces an  $\infty$ -functor

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^{1})^{\perp}}} \big( \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^{n})^{\perp}}} (\mathcal{V}) \big) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^{1})^{\perp}}} \big( \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}} (\mathcal{V}) \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathit{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^{1} \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}} (\mathcal{V}) \end{split} \tag{4.18}$$

to the  $\infty$ -category of locally constant prefactorization algebras over  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$ , i.e. the orthogonal category of open disks in the cylinder  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ .

*Proof.* Both pullback  $\infty$ -functors in (4.12) are symmetric monoidal  $\infty$ -functors, hence so is (4.13). This implies that the first arrow in (4.18) is well-defined. The equivalence in the second step of (4.18) follows from additivity of locally constant prefactorization algebras in the form of [LurHA, Example 5.4.5.5]. More explicitly, we have a chain of equivalences of  $\infty$ -categories

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1)^{\perp}}} \big( & \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}} (\mathcal{V}) \big) \, \simeq \, \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}_{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{R}^1}} \big( \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}_{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}}} (\mathcal{V}) \big) \\ & \simeq \, \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}_{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}}} (\mathcal{V}) \, \simeq \, \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}} (\mathcal{V}) \; , \end{split}$$

$$(4.19)$$

where the first and last equivalence are from [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9] and the middle equivalence is from [LurHA, Example 5.4.5.5].

Applying this construction to Corollary 4.3, we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 4.8.** Let  $\mathfrak{A} = {\{\mathfrak{A}(x)\}_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in C^* \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathbb{Z}^n}}$  be any family of  $C^*$ -algebras which is indexed by the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  and let  $(H, \pi_0) \in {}^*\mathbf{Rep}_{\mathfrak{A}}$  be any faithful \*-representation such that the extended  $\overline{\mathfrak{A}} \in C^*\mathbf{AQFT}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  in (3.1) satisfies Haag duality, for all  $U \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ . Then the locally constant prefactorization algebra of localized superselection sectors

$$\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{l.c.}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1)^{\perp}}} \left( \mathcal{A} \mathsf{lg}^{l.c.}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\perp}}} \left( C^* \mathfrak{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}} \right) \right) \tag{4.20}$$

from Corollary 4.3 has an underlying locally constant prefactorization algebra

$$\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A} \mathsf{Ig}^{l.c.}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}} (C^* \mathfrak{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}) \tag{4.21}$$

over the orthogonal category  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$  of open disks in the cylinder  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ .

To relate this result to [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22], we observe that there exists an open embedding  $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  which is determined by removing one point of the sphere  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times (\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \setminus \mathrm{pt}) \cong \mathbb{R}^n$ . This induces an orthogonal functor

$$\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^n)^{\perp} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}, \tag{4.22}$$

and hence via (F4) a pullback  $\infty$ -functor between the corresponding  $\infty$ -categories of locally constant prefactorization algebras. Using further the identification between locally constant  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^n)^{\perp}}$ -algebras and  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -algebras from [LurHA, Theorem 5.4.5.9], we obtain an ∞-functor

$$\mathcal{A}\mathsf{lg}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^{1}\times\mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \ \longrightarrow \ \mathcal{A}\mathsf{lg}^{\mathrm{l.c.}}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^{n})^{\perp}}}(\mathcal{V}) \ \simeq \ \mathcal{A}\mathsf{lg}_{\mathbb{E}_{n}}(\mathcal{V}) \tag{4.23}$$

to the  $\infty$ -category of  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -algebras in  $\mathcal{V}$ .

**Corollary 4.9.** The locally constant prefactorization algebra from Corollary 4.8 has an underlying  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal  $C^*$ -category

$$\underline{\underline{\operatorname{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A} \operatorname{Ig}_{\mathbb{E}_n} (C^* \operatorname{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}) \tag{4.24}$$

which is obtained by applying the  $\infty$ -functor (4.23). More concretely, this yields a monoidal  $C^*$ -category for the 1-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^1$ , a braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category for the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , and a symmetric monoidal  $C^*$ -category for the (n > 3)dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ .

Remark 4.10. We would like to emphasize that the emergence of an underlying braided or symmetric monoidal  $C^*$ -category is not a general consequence of our geometric Assumption 3.11, but it is linked to more specific features of the category **Cone**( $\mathbb{Z}^n$ ) of cone-shaped subsets. We expect that the geometric axioms (GA0–GA3) of [B+25], which are stronger than our Assumption 3.11 and also satisfied for cones (see [B+25, Appendix A]), could be the key to answer the following interesting question: Under which additional conditions on the orthogonal category of localization regions  $\mathbb{C}(S)^{\perp}$ has the locally constant prefactorization algebra  $SSS_{(2(\pi_0))}$  of superselection sectors an underlying braided or symmetric monoidal category?

Remark 4.11. In applications to topological order, one of the motivations behind our work, the category of superselection sectors typically has more structure, namely that of a modular tensor category [Kit06, Appendix E]. This richer structure is recognized a posteriori in concrete models. Under an additional assumption, namely that the von Neumann algebras  $\pi_0(\mathfrak{A}(V))''$  for  $V \in \mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  are properly infinite factors, it can be shown that  $\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  has direct sums and subobjects (i.e., we can project onto invariant subspaces). If one further restricts to dualizable objects, which physically have the interpretation of conjugate charges, this implies semi-simplicity [LR97]. The category is then modular if there are only finitely many simple objects, and in addition the braiding is non-degenerate. As far as we are aware, for the lattice systems we are interested in, there are no known general criteria which imply dualizability, finiteness of sectors, or non-degeneracy of the braiding, but these properties can be verified in many concrete models. (Note however that in algebraic quantum field theory [GL92] or for conformal nets [KLM01], this question is better understood.) Since these properties do not have their origin in the prefactorization algebra structure, we refer the interested reader to the references cited above for details.

It is important to stress that the  $\infty$ -functor (4.23) is forgetful, which implies that the underlying  $\mathbb{E}_n$ -monoidal  $C^*$ -category from Corollary 4.9 does not capture the entire algebraic structure of the locally constant prefactorization algebra over  $\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}$ from Corollary 4.8. The additional algebraic structures are related to the homotopy groups of the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , see e.g. [Gin15, Remark 27], and they are in general difficult to determine concretely. In the case of the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , which is most relevant for applications to topological order [Naa11,Naa12,Naa15,FN15,Oga22], one can explicitly characterize these additional algebraic structures by using [Gin15, Corollary 4].<sup>4</sup>

**Corollary 4.12.** For the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , the datum of the locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\underline{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg^{l.c.}_{\mathcal{P}_{Disk(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1)^{\perp}}}(C^*\mathfrak{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}})$  from Corollary 4.8 is equivalent to its underlying braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category from Corollary 4.9 together with a self-equivalence

$$T: \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \tag{4.25}$$

of braided monoidal C\*-categories.

Remark 4.13. To the best of our knowledge, the additional structure of a self-equivalence on the braided monoidal  $C^*$ -categories of superselection sectors in cone-shaped subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  has not yet been observed in the literature. We will explain in the next subsection how to compute it in terms of a kind of holonomy which arises by rotating cones around their apex.

It is important to stress that this self-equivalence is of a topological origin, rooted in the fact that our prefactorization algebra is intrinsically defined on the category of coneshaped subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , hence it can not be detected when one 'punctures the circle' or 'introduces a forbidden direction', as usually done in the literature [BF82,Naa11,Oga22], with a notable exception given by the recent work [B+25]. In this restricted context, one has only access to the  $\mathbb{E}_2$ -monoidal  $C^*$ -category  $\underline{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathbb{E}_2}(C^*\mathfrak{C}at_{\mathbb{C}})$  from Corollary 4.9, but one loses the datum of the self-equivalence T from Corollary 4.12. Once this datum is lost, it clearly cannot be restored through universal constructions or 'tricks', such as taking the factorization homology  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1} \underline{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  on the cylinder (endowed with a choice of framing) of the underlying  $\mathbb{E}_2$ -monoidal  $C^*$ -category, see e.g. [AF15] and also [AKZ17] for the context of topological order. Indeed, the locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1} \underline{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}^{l.c.} (C^*\mathfrak{C}at_{\mathbb{C}})$  obtained from factorization homology has necessarily a trivial self-equivalence, hence it will in general not be equivalent to our intrinsically constructed one  $\underline{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathcal{A}lg_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1})^{\perp}}$  ( $C^*\mathfrak{C}at_{\mathbb{C}}$ ) from Corollary 4.8.

4.2. Concrete computations for  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . In this last subsection we will specialize to the case of the 2-dimensional lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  and explain how the braiding and self-equivalence from Corollary 4.12 can be computed geometrically by using suitable cone configurations. Since the prefactorization algebra

$$SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \in \mathbf{Alg}_{\mathsf{uAs}} \Big( C^* \mathbf{PFA}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\perp}} \Big)$$
 (4.26)

from Corollary 4.3 is locally constant, one can realize the braided monoidal structure and self-equivalence from Corollary 4.12 on any of the unitarily equivalent  $C^*$ -categories

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Note that Ginot's result is stated only in the context of cochain complexes, but it is valid for factorization algebras valued in any presentably symmetric monoidal  $\infty$ -category. Indeed, the proof relies on extension constructions from a factorizing basis, and such tools were developed in full generality in [KSW24, Proposition 4.18].

 $SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$ . (Note that this is completely analogous to the observations in [B+25].) In order to obtain a model which is manifestly independent of the choice of cone-shaped subset  $V \in Cone(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ , we can also realize this structure on the unitarily equivalent  $C^*$ -category

$$\underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} := SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},Cone(\mathbb{Z}^2),\pi_0)} \in C^*Cat_{\mathbb{C}}$$
(4.27)

of localizable (but not necessarily strictly localized) superselection sectors from Definition 3.3.

In order to transfer the algebraic structures from the locally constant prefactorization algebra  $\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}\colon \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Disk}(\mathbb{R}^1\times\mathbb{S}^1)^{\perp}}\to C^*\mathfrak{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  to the single  $C^*$ -category (4.27), we choose quasi-inverses for the unitary equivalences induced by the inclusion \*-functors  $\iota_V:\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)\to \underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  and  $\iota_U^V:\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)\to\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$ , for all  $V\in\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  and all morphisms  $U\subseteq V$  in  $\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ . Up to equivalence, the result of this transfer does not depend on these choices. Convenient models for such quasi-inverses can be obtained by choosing unitary charge transporters as in Remark 3.8. Explicitly, to define a quasi-inverse for  $\iota_V:\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)\to\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$ , choose for each object  $(K,\pi)\in\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  a unitary  $u_{(K,\pi)}:K\to H$  such that  $(H,\pi^{u_{(K,\pi)}})\in\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  defined in (3.10) is strictly localized in V. When  $(H,\pi)\in\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)\subseteq\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  is already strictly localized in V, we choose the identity  $u_{(H,\pi)}=\mathrm{id}_H:H\to H$ . This defines a quasi-inverse \*-functor

$$p_{V}: \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})} \longrightarrow SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V), \qquad (4.28)$$

$$(K,\pi) \longmapsto (H,\pi^{u_{(K,\pi)}}), \qquad (L:(K,\pi)\to(K',\pi')) \longmapsto \left(u_{(K',\pi')}\circ L\circ u_{(K,\pi)}^{*}:(H,\pi^{u_{(K,\pi)}})\to(H,\pi'^{u_{(K',\pi')}})\right)$$

satisfying  $p_V \iota_V = \operatorname{id}$  and such that  $\alpha_V : \operatorname{id} \xrightarrow{\cong} \iota_V p_V$  via the natural isomorphism given by the unitary components  $(\alpha_V)_{(K,\pi)} = u_{(K,\pi)} : (K,\pi) \to (H,\pi^{u_{(K,\pi)}})$ . With a similar construction one obtains quasi-inverses

$$p_U^V : \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V) \longrightarrow \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U)$$
 (4.29)

for the inclusion \*-functors  $\iota^V_U: \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(U) \to \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)$  satisfying  $p^V_U \iota^V_U = \mathrm{id}$  and such that  $\alpha^V_U: \mathrm{id} \stackrel{\cong}{\Longrightarrow} \iota^V_U p^V_U$  via a natural isomorphism with unitary components.

The monoidal structure from Corollary 4.12 can be realized on the  $C^*$ -category (4.27) by taking as monoidal unit the reference \*-representation  $\pi_0 \in \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  and as monoidal product the \*-functor

$$\underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})} \boxtimes \underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})} ---\stackrel{\star}{\longrightarrow} -\rightarrow \underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}$$

$$p_{V} \boxtimes p_{V} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow \iota_{V} \qquad (4.30)$$

$$\mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V) \boxtimes \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V) \xrightarrow{} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V)$$

which is obtained by transferring the strict monoidal product from Lemma 3.19 along any of the unitary equivalences  $\iota_V : \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V) \rightleftarrows \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} : p_V$ , for some  $V \in \mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ . The existence of an associator and unitors for this (not necessarily strict) monoidal structure is a direct consequence of Corollary 4.12.

To exhibit a model for the braiding  $\tau:\star\Rightarrow\star\circ$  flip for this monoidal structure, we leverage the fact that the prefactorization algebra structure and object-wise monoidal structures of (4.26) are strictly compatible by Theorem 3.21. Using an Eckmann–Hilton-type argument, one observes that the diagram

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(U_{i}) \xrightarrow{\bullet} \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V)$$

$$\boxtimes_{i} \iota_{U_{i}}^{V} \longrightarrow \mathbb{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V)$$

$$\boxtimes_{i} \iota_{U_{i}}^{V} \longrightarrow \mathbb{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V)$$

$$(4.31)$$

in  $C^*\mathbf{Cat}_{\mathbb{C}}$  commutes strictly, for all operations  $(U_1,\ldots,U_n)\to V$  in the operad  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\perp}}$ , where  $\diamond^n$  denotes the n-fold object-wise monoidal product from Lemma 3.19. Choosing any binary operation  $(U_1,U_2)\to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\perp}}$ , we obtain the natural isomorphism

where the diagonal equalities use the Eckmann–Hilton argument (4.31) and the lower horizontal equality uses the permutation equivariance property (2.39) of a prefactorization algebra. This natural isomorphism transfers to the braiding

$$\tau := \iota_V \circ \tilde{\tau} \circ (p_V \boxtimes p_V) : \star \implies \star \circ \text{flip}$$
 (4.32a)

for the monoidal structure (4.30), which as a direct consequence of Corollary 4.12 satisfies the relevant hexagon identities.

Remark 4.14. The braiding (4.32) agrees with the standard one from traditional superselection theory, see e.g. [DHR71] and [BF82]. To verify this claim, it suffices to compute the components  $\tau_{\pi,\dot{\pi}}$  of the braiding for any two objects  $\pi,\dot{\pi}\in \mathbf{SSS}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V)\subseteq \underline{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  which we may assume to be strictly localized in the chosen cone-shaped subset  $V\in\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ . Abbreviating by  $u:=(\alpha_{U_1}^V)_\pi:\pi\to\pi^u$  and  $\dot{u}:=(\alpha_{U_2}^V)_{\dot{\pi}}:\dot{\pi}\to\dot{\pi}^{\dot{u}}$  the corresponding components of the unitary natural isomorphisms  $\alpha_{U_1}^V:\mathrm{id}\to\iota_{U_1}^V p_{U_1}^V$  and  $\alpha_{U_2}^V:\mathrm{id}\to\iota_{U_2}^V p_{U_2}^V$ , we find that

$$\tau_{\pi,\dot{\pi}} : \pi \star \dot{\pi} = \pi \diamond \dot{\pi} \xrightarrow{u \diamond \dot{u}} \pi^{u} \diamond \dot{\pi}^{\dot{u}} = \dot{\pi}^{\dot{u}} \diamond \pi^{u} \xrightarrow{\dot{u}^{*} \diamond u^{*}} \dot{\pi} \diamond \pi = \dot{\pi} \star \pi. \tag{4.33a}$$

Recalling the explicit formula (3.35c) for the monoidal structure  $\diamond$  on morphisms, we can write this more concretely as the composition of unitary operators

$$\tau_{\pi \dot{\pi}} = \dot{\rho}_V(u^*) \circ \dot{u}^* \circ u \circ \rho_V(\dot{u}) , \qquad (4.33b)$$

which coincides with the usual braiding from [DHR71,BF82]. Since, by our transfer construction, the resulting braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category is unique (up to equivalence), it becomes superfluous to analyze as in [DHR71,BF82] the dependence of the braiding on the choice of binary operation  $(U_1, U_2) \to V$  in  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\perp}}$ .

It remains to exhibit a model for the self-equivalence  $T: \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)} \to \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$ from Corollary 4.12. This is geometrically realized by winding once around a cone's apex via a zig-zag of cone inclusions. More explicitly, we choose any sequence of morphisms

$$V_1 \longrightarrow V_2 \longleftarrow V_3 \longrightarrow V_4 \longleftarrow V_1$$
 (4.34a)

in  $\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  that winds clockwise around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ , e.g.

$$\longrightarrow \longleftarrow \longleftarrow \longrightarrow \longleftarrow (4.34b)$$

This defines a model (unique up to equivalence) for the self-equivalence by taking the holonomy

$$\underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{p_{V_{1}}\downarrow}(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}^{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})} \xrightarrow{T} \underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V_{1}) \qquad \underbrace{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V_{1}) \qquad \underbrace{\mathbf{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_{0})}(V_{1}) \qquad \underbrace{\mathbf{SSS$$

As a direct consequence of Corollary 4.12, this \*-functor can be endowed with the structure of a braided monoidal self-equivalence of the braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category  $\left(\underline{\underline{\mathbf{SSS}}}_{(2(\pi_0)},\star,\pi_0,\tau\right).$ 

Example 4.15. A concrete example of the braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category  $\underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  of localizable superselection sectors is constructed in [Naa11] for Kitaev's quantum double model with  $G = \mathbb{Z}_2$ , i.e. the toric code. It is therefore natural to ask how the additional braided monoidal self-equivalence T from (4.35) behaves in this concrete example and the answer we obtain below is that T is trivial. Our argument below readily generalizes to all finite Abelian groups using the results from [FN15], however for a generalization to non-Abelian groups one would require more sophisticated techniques as in [BHNV25]. As already highlighted in the introduction, we believe that this is not an artifact of the simplicity of this model, but that the triviality of T is rooted in the insufficiency of traditional superselection theory [DHR71,BF82] to detect non-trivial topology. In particular, we expect that adapting the generalized superselection theory from [BR08] will lead to a richer braided monoidal  $C^*$ -category for Kitaev's quantum double model, endowed with a potentially non-trivial self-equivalence T.

Our goal is to show that  $T(\pi) = \pi$ , for all irreducible stringlike localized representations  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V_1) \subseteq \underline{\underline{SSS}}_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}$  as introduced in [Naa11]. Let us recall that  $\pi$ is defined by a choice of path  $\gamma$  extending to infinity and contained in  $V_1 \in \mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ , see [Naa11, Proposition 3.4]. In order to compute  $T(\pi)$  explicitly, recall from (4.34) the sequence of morphisms in  $\mathbf{Cone}_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  used in the definition (4.35) of T and that the quasi-inverses  $p_{V_1}$ ,  $p_{V_3}^{V_2}$  and  $p_{V_1}^{V_4}$  involve choices. We already defined  $p_{V_1}$  so that it acts as the identity on objects localized in  $V_1$ . It is convenient to define  $p_{V_3}^{V_2}$  so that it acts on irreducible stringlike representations localized in  $V_1$  by a clockwise rotation of the underlying path by an angle  $\pi$  around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . (The required unitary charge transporter can be constructed by choosing a path contained in  $V_2$  from the basepoint of the original path to the basepoint of the rotated path, see [Naa11, Lemma 4.2].) Similarly, it is convenient to define  $p_{V_1}^{V_4}$  so that it acts on irreducible stringlike representations localized in  $V_3$  by a clockwise rotation of the underlying path by an angle  $\pi$  around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . (The required unitary charged transporter can be constructed again by choosing a similar path contained in  $V_4$ .) To transport  $\pi \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V_1)$  clockwise along the chosen sequence of morphisms (4.34) in  $Cone_0(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ , we proceed in two steps. First, we transport the irreducible representation  $\pi = p_{V_1}(\pi)$  from  $V_1$  to  $V_3$  through  $V_2$ . The outcome is the object  $\dot{\pi} := p_{V_3}^{V_2}(\iota_{V_1}^{V_2}(\pi)) \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V_3)$ , whose underlying path  $\dot{\gamma} = \gamma^{\pi}$  is by construction the clockwise rotation of the path  $\gamma$  by an angle  $\pi$  around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . Second, we transport  $\dot{\pi}$  from  $V_3$  back to  $V_1$  through  $V_4$ . The outcome is the object  $T(\pi) = p_{V_1}^{V_4}(\iota_{V_2}^{V_4}(\dot{\pi})) \in SSS_{(\mathfrak{A},\pi_0)}(V_1)$ , whose underlying path  $\widetilde{\gamma} = \dot{\gamma}^{\pi}$  is by construction the clockwise rotation of the path  $\dot{\gamma}$  by an angle  $\pi$  around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . It follows that  $\tilde{\gamma} = \gamma^{2\pi} = \gamma$  is obtained by a clockwise rotation of the original path  $\gamma$ by an angle  $2\pi$  around the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . Hence, the associated irreducible stringlike localized representations  $T(\pi) = \pi$  coincide.

**Acknowledgement** We would like to thank Sebastiano Carpi, Owen Gwilliam, Robin Hillier, Corey Jones and David Penneys for useful discussions and comments. We also would like to thank the anonymous referees for their comments which helped us to improve our paper. The work of M.B. is supported in part by the MUR Excellence Department Project awarded to Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Genova (CUP D33C23001110001) and it is fostered by the National Group of Mathematical Physics (GNFM-INdAM (IT)). V.C. is partially supported by the grant PID2020-117971GB-C21 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011 033.

Data Availability All data generated or analyzed during this study are contained in this document.

# Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors have no conflict of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### References

- [AKZ17] Ai, Y., Kong, L., Zheng, H.: Topological orders and factorization homology. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 21, 1845–1894 (2017). arXiv:1607.08422 [math.OA]
- [AV20] Antoun, J., Voigt, C.: On bicolimits of  $C^*$ -categories. Theory Appl. Categ. 35, 1683–1725 (2020). arXiv:2006.06232 [math.OA]
- [AF15] Ayala, D., Francis, J.: Factorization homology of topological manifolds. J. Topol. 8(4), 1045–1084 (2015). arXiv:1206.5522 [math.AT]

- [BFS24] Benini, M., Fernández, T., Schenkel, A.: Derived algebraic geometry of 2d lattice Yang-Mills theory. arXiv:2409.06873 [math-ph]
- [BPSW21] Benini, M., Perin, M., Schenkel, A., Woike, L.: Categorification of algebraic quantum field theories. Lett. Math. Phys. 111, 35 (2021). arXiv:2003.13713 [math-ph]
- [BSW19] Benini, M., Schenkel, A., Woike, L.: Involutive categories, colored \*-operads and quantum field theory. Theor. Appl. Categor. 34, 13–57 (2019), arXiv:1802.09555 [math.CT]
- [BSW21] Benini, M., Schenkel, A., Woike, L.: Operads for algebraic quantum field theory. Commun. Contemp. Math. 23, 2050007 (2021). arXiv:1709.08657 [math-ph]
- [BBJ18a] Ben-Zvi, D., Brochier, A., Jordan, D.: Integrating quantum groups over surfaces. J. Topol. 11(4), 874–917 (2018). arXiv:1501.04652 [math.QA]
- [BBJ18b] Ben-Zvi, D., Brochier, A., Jordan, D.: Quantum character varieties and braided module categories. Sel. Math. New Ser. 24, 4711–4748 (2018). arXiv:1606.04769 [math.QA]
- [B+25] Bhardwaj, A., Brisky, T., Chuah, C.Y., Kawagoe, K., Keslin, J., Penneys, D., Wallick, D.: Super-selection sectors for posets of von Neumann algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 406, 185 (2025). arXiv:2410.21454 [math.OA]
- [BHNV25] Bols, A., Hamdan, M., Naaijkens, P., Vadnerkar, S.: The category of anyon sectors for non-abelian quantum double models, to appear in Communications in Mathematical Physics. arXiv:2503.15611 [math-ph]
- [BR87] Bratteli, O., Robinson, D.W.: Operator algebras and quantum statistical mechanics 1, Texts Monogr. Phys., Springer Verlag, New York (1987)
- [BR08] Brunetti, R., Ruzzi, G.: Quantum charges and spacetime topology: the emergence of new superselection sectors. Commun. Math. Phys. **287**, 523–563 (2009). arXiv:0801.3365 [math-ph]
- [BF82] Buchholz, D., Fredenhagen, K.: Locality and the structure of particle states. Commun. Math. Phys. 84, 1 (1982)
- [Bun19] Bunke, U.: Homotopy theory with \*-categories. Theor. Appl. Categor. 34, 781–853 (2019). arXiv:1612.03782 [math.KT]
- [Bun21] Bunke, U.: Lecture course on C\*-algebras and C\*-categories, lecture notes (2021). https://bunke.app.uni-regensburg.de/VorlesungCastcats-1.pdf
- [Bun24] Bunke, U.: Non-unital  $C^*$ -categories, (co)limits, crossed products and exactness. High. Struct. **8**, 163–209 (2024). arXiv:2008.06257 [math.OA]
- [CC24] Calaque, D., Carmona, V.: Algebras over not too little discs. arXiv:2407.18192 [math.AT]
- [Car23] Carmona, V.: New model category structures for algebraic quantum field theory. Lett. Math. Phys. 113, 33 (2023). arXiv:2107.14176 [math-ph]
- [CG13] Corner, A.S., Gurski, N.: Operads with general groups of equivariance, and some 2-categorical aspects of operads in Cat. arXiv:1312.5910 [math.CT]
- [CG17] Costello, K., Gwilliam, O.: Factorization Algebras in Quantum Field Theory: Volume 1, New Mathematical Monographs 31, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2017)
- [CG21] Costello, K., Gwilliam, O.: Factorization Algebras in Quantum Field Theory: Volume 2, New Mathematical Monographs 41, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2021)
- [Del12] Dell'Ambrogio, I.: The unitary symmetric monoidal model category of small *C\**-categories. Homology Homotopy Appl. **14**, 101–127 (2012). arXiv:1004.1488 [math.CT]
- [DHR71] Doplicher, S., Haag, R., Roberts, J.E.: Local observables and particle statistics. 1. Commun. Math. Phys. 23, 199–230 (1971)
- [EJ25] Elokl, A., Jones, C.: Universal coarse geometry of spin systems. Lett. Math. Phys. 115, 57 (2025). arXiv:2411.07912 [quant-ph]
- [FN15] Fiedler, L., Naaijkens, P.: Haag duality for Kitaev's quantum double model for abelian groups. Rev. Math. Phys. 27, 1550021 (2015). arXiv:1406.1084 [math-ph]
- [GLR85] Ghez, P., Lima, R., Roberts, J.E.: W\*-categories. Pacific J. Math. 120, 79–109 (1985)
- [Gin15] Ginot, G.: Notes on factorization algebras, factorization homology and applications. In: Calaque, D., Strobl, T. (eds.) Mathematical Aspects of Quantum Field Theories, pp. 429–552. Springer, Cham (2015) . arXiv:1307.5213 [math.AT]
- [GL92] Guido, D., Longo, R.: Relativistic invariance and charge conjugation in quantum field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. **148**, 521–551 (1992)
- [HK64] Haag, R., Kastler, D.: An algebraic approach to quantum field theory. J. Math. Phys. 5, 848–861 (1964)
- [Hat23] Hataishi, L.: C\*-algebraic factorization homology and realization of cyclic representations, to appear in Quantum Topology. arXiv:2304.07155 [math.OA]
- [Hau19] Haugseng, R.: Algebras for enriched ∞-operads, to appear in Algebraic and Geometric Topology. arXiv:1909.10042 [math.AT]
- [Hen18] Henriques, A.: Conformal nets are factorization algebras. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 98, 229–240 (2018). arXiv:1611.05529 [math-ph]

- [JF22] Johnson-Freyd, T.: On the classification of topological orders. Commun. Math. Phys. 393, 989– 1033 (2022). arXiv:2003.06663 [math.CT]
- [KSW24] Karlsson, E., Scheimbauer, C., Walde, T.: Assembly of constructible factorization algebras. arXiv:2403.19472v3 [math.AT]
- [KL20] Kawagoe, K., Levin, L.: Microscopic definitions of anyon data. Phys. Rev. B 101, 115113 (2020). arXiv:1910.11353 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [KLM01] Kawahigashi, Y., Longo, R., Müger, M.: Multi-interval subfactors and modularity of representations in conformal field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 219, 631–669 (2001). arXiv:math/9903104 [math.OA]
- [Kit03] Kitaev, A.Y.: Fault tolerant quantum computation by anyons. Annals Phys. 303, 2–30 (2003). arXiv:quant-ph/9707021 [quant-ph]
- [Kit06] Kitaev, A.Y.: Anyons in an exactly solved model and beyond. Annals Phys. **321**, 2–111 (2006). arXiv:cond-mat/0506438 [cond-mat]
- [KZ22] Kong, L., Zhang, Z.H.: An invitation to topological orders and category theory. arXiv:2205.05565 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [LR97] Longo, R., Roberts, J.E.: A theory of dimension. K-Theory **11**, 103–159 (1997). arXiv:funct-an/9604008 [math.FA]
- [LurHA] Lurie, J.: Higher Algebra. https://www.math.ias.edu/lurie/papers/HA.pdf
- [LurHTT] Lurie, J.: Higher Topos Theory, Annals of Mathematics Studies 170, Princeton University Press (2009)
- [Mur90] Murphy, G.J.: C\*-Algebras and Operator Theory. Academic Press Inc, Boston (1990)
- [Naa11] Naaijkens, P.: Localized endomorphisms in Kitaev's toric code on the plane. Rev. Math. Phys. 23, 347–373 (2011). arXiv:1012.3857 [math-ph]
- [Naa12] Naaijkens, P.: Haag duality and the distal split property for cones in the toric code. Lett. Math. Phys. 101, 341–354 (2012). arXiv:1106.4171 [math-ph]
- [Naa15] Naaijkens, P.: Kitaev's quantum double model from a local quantum physics point of view. In: Brunetti, R., Dappiaggi, C., Fredenhagen, K., Yngvason, J. (eds.) Advances in Algebraic Quantum Field Theory, pp. 365–395. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg (2015). arXiv:1508.07170 [math-ph]
- [N+08] Nayak, C., Simon, S.H., Stern, A., Freedman, M., Das Sarma, S.: Non-Abelian anyons and topological quantum computation. Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 1083–1159 (2008). arXiv:0707.1889 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [NS17] Nikolaus, T., Sagave, S.: Presentably symmetric monoidal ∞-categories are represented by symmetric monoidal model categories. Algebr. Geom. Topol. 17, 3189–3212 (2017). arXiv:1506.01475 [math.AT]
- [Oga22] Ogata, Y.: A derivation of braided  $C^*$ -tensor categories from gapped ground states satisfying the approximate Haag duality. J. Math. Phys. **63**, 011902 (2022). arXiv:2106.15741 [math-ph]
- [OPR25] Ogata, Y., Pérez-García, D., Ruiz-de-Alarcón, A.: Haag duality for 2d quantum spin systems. arXiv:2509.23734 [math-ph]
- [Rob04] Roberts, J.E.: "More lectures on algebraic quantum field theory. In: Doplicher, S., Longo, R. (eds.)
  Noncommutative Geometry: Lectures Given at the C.I.M.E. Summer School held in Martina
  Franca, Italy, September 3–9, 2000, Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg (2004)
- [SKK20] Shi, B., Kato, K., Kim, I.H.: Fusion rules from entanglement. Annals Phys. 418, 168164 (2020). arXiv:1906.09376 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [SK21] Shi, B., Kim, I.H.: Entanglement bootstrap approach for gapped domain walls. Phys. Rev. B 103, 115150 (2021). arXiv:2008.11793 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [Wen17] Wen, X.-G.: Colloquium: Zoo of quantum topological phases of matter. Rev. Mod. Phys. 89, 041004 (2017). arXiv:1610.03911 [cond-mat.str-el]
- [ZCZW19] Zeng, B., Chen, X., Zhou, D-L., Wen, X-G.: Quantum information meets quantum matter, Quantum Sci. Technol., Springer, New York (2019). arXiv:1508.02595 [cond-mat.str-el]

Communicated by Y.Kawahigashi